The newsletter of Ireland's focal point to the EMCDDA

drugnet Ireland

Issue 87 Winter 2024

In this issue

Issue 87 of *Drugnet Ireland* contains a special supplement on The Citizens' Assembly on Drugs Use.

National Drugs Forum

Alcohol research conference

Drugnet Ireland is produced in collaboration with the HRB National Drugs Library. To have Drugnet Ireland delivered to your desktop, sign up at www.drugsandalcohol.ie

Alcohol findings from Healthy Ireland Survey 2023

The ninth wave of the Healthy Ireland Survey, commissioned by the Department of Health and carried out by Ipsos B&A, involves a representative sample from the general population aged 15 years and over to increase knowledge of the population's health and health behaviours.¹ The survey is in accordance with Ireland's Well-being Framework 2023, which seeks to measure the current status of Ireland's performance as a nation based on a set of indicators. These focus collectively not only on economic standing but also equality issues and sustainability.² A number of these indicators are incorporated into the survey.



Minister for Public Health, Wellbeing and the National Drugs Strategy, Hildegarde Naughton TD, speaking at the National Drugs Forum 2023 in Croke Park, Dublin



(continued on page 3)

Research. Evidence. Action.

Contents

Cover story

Alcohol findings from Healthy Ireland Survey 2023	01
Policy and legislation	
Drug policy evaluation in Europe	06
Advancing alcohol research in Ireland	09
Recent research	
Review of efficacy and safety of medicinal cannabis, 2024	12
Alcohol-related emergency department presentations and hospital admissions following minimum unit pricing in Ireland	13
Factors associated with suicide in people who use drugs	15
Prevalence and current situation	
HIV incidence among people who inject drugs in Ireland, 2000–2018	17
Drug use during pregnancy in Dublin City, 2010–2019	19
Trends in alcohol and drug admissions to psychiatric facilities	20

Responses

More Than That Festival – celebrating	
recovery from addiction	22

HSE AskAboutAlcohol website analyses, 2022–2023	23
Scenarios development workshop at National Drugs Forum, 2023	27
Merchants Quay Ireland annual review, 2021	32
Prison visiting committees annual reports, 2021	34
Ana Liffey Drug Project annual report, 2022	36
An Garda Síochána annual report, 2022	37
EWODOR Conference, 2023	45
Courts Service annual report, 2022	47
Coolmine Therapeutic Community annual report, 2021	50
DOVE Service, Rotunda Hospital annual report, 2022	52
Tabor Group annual report, 2022	54
Undatas	

Updates

Recent publications	55

The policy, research, and other documents covered in this issue of *Drugnet Ireland* have all been retrieved by the HRB National Drugs Library and may be accessed on its website **www.drugsandalcohol.ie**

In brief

A special supplement of this issue of Drugnet Ireland presents an overview of the Citizens' Assembly on Drugs Use, which completed its work in late 2023 and published a final report in January 2024. Ireland's experience with citizens' assemblies is recognised internationally as a bold experiment in deliberative democracy and an example of pluralism and inclusion in the policy decision-making process. Unlike some of the previous assemblies, the members of the Citizens' Assembly on Drugs Use were not offered a binary choice and they completed their work with a detailed and nuanced series of recommendations on all aspects of the topic that had been discussed. The members demonstrated exemplary commitment and a remarkable capacity to learn and absorb great detail on the topic. The citizens' assemblies are evidence of a robust democratic process, an engaged citizenry, and a political environment that allows expression of opposing views and political opinion.

While Ireland faces political, economic, and social challenges, and we need vigilance and care to ensure our democratic institutions remain strong, other countries face far more formidable threats to the democratic process. In 2024, nearly one-half of the world's population are in countries that will engage in elections to elect a national legislative assembly or select a head of state. This should be a cause for celebration, but much of the political commentary has focused on the difficulties posed by both the perfunctory nature of many of these elections and the growing strength of illiberal political movements in healthy, long-established democracies.

The impact of globalisation on those with limited economic resources, climate emergency and related problems, in particular migration, and increasing international tensions have combined to create an environment not conducive to the spreading of liberal democratic values. The illegal drugs market compounds these factors and presents a separate and very formidable problem for both national governments and international institutions across the globe. Ecuador, a country that had avoided the type of prolonged civil conflict endured by many neighbouring countries, is currently dealing with a profound threat to its stability from organised crime groups determined to counter any interference with their operations. Much of the drug-related criminal activity in Ecuador is connected to the European cocaine market. Describing Wa State, a breakaway region of Myanmar, as a 'narco state' is not hyperbolic. Its entire economy depends on supplying the methamphetamine market of South East Asia and growing opium for heroin.

The Netherlands is also dealing with serious threats from organised crime. While these are nowhere near the depths of the problems faced by countries in the Global South, the speed with which they have emerged, the diversity of the problem, and its capacity to impact on so many parts of Dutch society are potentially very destabilising. Much of Europe's supply of cocaine is routed through the port of Rotterdam, part of an illegal economy marked by both corruption and violence, and much of the profits from this trade are laundered in Amsterdam's financial centre. Dutch-based laboratories supply much of Europe's demand for synthetic drugs, such as MDMA, presenting further opportunities for organised crime and serious environmental problems from discarded waste.

The European Commission has identified the illegal drugs market as Europe's primary internal security concern and recognises its potential to cause considerable political and economic disruption. Ireland has given a lot of attention to the issues of drugs use, and provided the Government with a clear-sighted, empathetic, representative, and radical guide for drug policy. Drugs are an international concern and the response requires cooperation and agreement in organisations like the European Union. Resources, technological advances, and political leadership will be needed for this response to be effective. Much can be learned from Ireland's experience, and by using the mechanisms of deliberative democracy it may be possible to develop solutions not just effective but which reflect the values and philosophy of European citizenry.

Healthy Ireland alcohol findings 2023 continued

Methodology

Telephone interviews took place between October 2022 and April 2023 with approximately 7,500 respondents. Along with questions about alcohol use, the survey examined general health, tobacco use, illicit drug use, mental health, use of general practitioners (GPs) and other health services, suicide awareness, antibiotic usage, quality of life, and social connectedness. Questions about alcohol use are routinely asked in each wave of the survey, but in the 2023 survey, additional alcohol questions were included to better understand the public's observation of labels on alcohol products. Section 12 of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018 was signed into law in May 2023, which provides for more comprehensive health labelling of alcohol products. However, to allow businesses/ producers sufficient time to prepare, it will not be mandatory until 2026.³ Therefore, it is important that baseline information be available to gauge how much the general public notice these labels in their current limited state and

the extent to which they interact with the labels, so that comparisons can be made following the commencement of Section 12 in 2026.

Main findings on alcohol

Alcohol use

Seventy per cent of the population aged 15 years and over reported consuming alcohol during the past 12 months, 73% of males and 67% of females. This was a decline since the 2018 Healthy Ireland Survey (the last time alcohol use was measured by the past 12 months), which was 75% overall (78% males vs 72% females).⁴ In 2023, those aged 15–24 years (75%) were more likely to report consuming alcohol in the previous 12 months, particularly males (see Figure 1).

Drinking at least once a week was reported by 38% of respondents, a decrease since 2018 (41%). In 2023, drinking at least once a week was more common among those aged 55–64 years (48%), particularly males in this age group (52% vs 43% females). Males aged 65–74 years were also likely to report drinking at least once a week (53%), considerably higher than females in the same age group (34%).



Figure 1: Percentage of respondents who consumed alcohol in the previous 12 months, by sex and age



Healthy Ireland alcohol findings 2023 continued

Figure 2: Percentage of respondents who reported binge drinking on a typical drinking occasion, by sex and age

Binge drinking

Almost one-quarter (24%) of the population reported binge drinking on a typical drinking occasion – defined as drinking six standard drinks or more in one sitting – lower than that reported in 2018 (27%). Males (43%) were more likely to report binge drinking compared with females (34%), which applied to all age groups (see Figure 2).

Almost one-quarter (24%) of parents of children aged less than 18 years binge drink on a typical drinking occasion; this was more commonly reported among fathers (39%) than mothers (11%).

Alcohol packaging and advertising awareness

Over one in every 10 respondents reported often or always seeing health messages when looking at alcohol packaging, while 59% never see health messages. Just 6% of respondents reported that they often or always read or look closely at health warning messages on alcohol products. The most common warnings noticed were about alcohol content (28%), drinking during pregnancy (14%), and consumption warnings (13%). Often or always seeing or hearing health messages for alcohol advertising was reported by 16% of respondents, although 47% of respondents reported that they never hear or see such messages for alcohol advertising. Of those who reported seeing or hearing health warning messages on alcohol advertising, 8% reported paying close attention to the information. Just 6% of respondents sought out information on the effects of drinking alcohol in the previous 12 months.

Conclusion

Alcohol use remains high among the Irish population; however, it has decreased since 2018 when alcohol use was measured as lastyear use. (Surveys in between these time periods asked about alcohol use in the last 6 months and are therefore not comparable.)

This is the first time that the Healthy Ireland Survey has asked about health warnings on alcohol products or in alcohol advertising. This information provides a valuable baseline for which to compare future data, as health warning labels will become mandatory in 2026.⁵

Healthy Ireland alcohol findings 2023 continued

Anne Doyle

- 1 Ipsos B&A (2023) *Healthy Ireland Survey* 2023: summary report. Dublin: Government Publications. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39977/
- 2 Department of the Taoiseach (2023) Understanding life in Ireland: the Well-being Framework 2023. Dublin: Government of Ireland. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/38968/

- 3 Office of the Attorney General (2018) *Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018*. Dublin: Irish Statute Book. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/33698/
- 4 Ipsos MRBI (2018) *Healthy Ireland Survey 2018: summary of findings*. Dublin: Government Publications. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/29851/
- Doyle A (2023) Public Health (Alcohol) (Labelling) Regulations 2023 signed into law. *Drugnet Ireland*, 86 (Summer): 11–12. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39492/

Policy and legislation

Drug policy evaluation in Europe

.

Since the early 2000s, the evaluation of drug policies and strategies has increasingly featured as part of the drugs landscape at European Union (EU) and member state levels. Evaluation is a critical part of the policymaking process. It supports effective policymaking by helping it adapt to changes over time, ensure lessons are learnt from previous successes and failures, and therefore strengthens value for money in the approach taken by the EU and member states to dealing with the drugs issue.

The European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) considers policy evaluation a priority (see Box 1). In December 2023, it updated its online content for the topic overview on drug policy evaluation in Europe.¹ Stakeholders can find links to sources to support policy evaluation, as well as examples of EU and member state outputs on the topic. The overview presents the state of play at the end of 2023 on the focus of national drug strategies and their evaluations.

Focus of national drug strategies

At the end of 2023, all 29 reporting countries (EU-27, plus Türkiye and Norway) had an active drug strategy. This compares to the mid-1990s when only one-third of the countries reporting to the EMCDDA had one, increasing to twothirds in 2000. While some member states have a strategy that focuses specifically on illicit drug use, others (like Ireland) have a broader focus that covers other substances (e.g. alcohol, tobacco, and medicines) or addictive behaviours (e.g. gambling). Based on data collected through the 2023 national reports to the EMCDDA, Figure 1 illustrates the situation at the end of 2023 in terms of focus.



Policy evaluation in Europe continued

Broader focus Illicit drugs focus

Multi-criterion evaluation
 Implementation progress review
 Targeted evaluation

Source: EMCDDA (2023)¹

Figure 1: Focus of national drug strategy documents reported by end 2023

Evaluations of national drug strategies

Since 2010, the evaluation of national drug strategy documents is described by the EMCDDA as having become 'standard practice'. Evaluations take many different forms depending on the focus, needs, and resources of national stakeholders, among other factors. To monitor evaluation practices across the member states, the EMCDDA has developed a typology that incorporates both whole-strategy and targeted evaluation, alongside ongoing monitoring and research aimed at supporting evaluation. These are:

• Implementation progress review: A review of the actions taken and/or the strategy's context at its midpoint or end point.

Source: EMCDDA (2023)¹

Figure 2: National evaluations reported to the EMCDDA by end 2023

- Multi-criterion evaluation: An evaluation of a strategy and/or action plan at its midpoint or end point.
- **Targeted evaluation:** An evaluation or audit of a specific policy or strategy aspect or area.
- Other approaches: Assessment by means of ongoing indicator monitoring, research projects, or regional or local strategy evaluation.

Figure 2 illustrates the range of evaluation types using this typology.

Policy evaluation in Europe

Box 1: Guide for commissioners and managers of policy evaluations

The EMCDDA's seven-step guide to support the commissioning and managing of drug policy evaluations, published in 2017, continues to be a valuable resource. It offers an introduction to the topic and is designed to support those in the relevant roles in choosing the best approach to meet their needs, fit with their circumstances, and maximise the value of the evaluation. Four key messages were identified in the guide:

- 1 There is no one 'correct' way to perform an evaluation of drug policy. What is best will depend on what you want to know, what data you have available or can obtain, and the resources and time available to you.
- 2 Evaluation should not be seen as a one-off event but will be most useful if viewed as an ongoing process intertwined with policy or strategy development and implementation.
- 3 Evaluation needs to be accompanied by a commitment to taking action on the findings, and the opportunity to do so. The timing and choice of evaluation design need to be realistic and take this into account; producing a detailed evaluation of a previous strategy only after a new strategy has been developed and implementation begun will limit its usefulness.
- 4 Developing the expertise and data sources for drug policy evaluation over time will increase the ability to conduct evaluations in support of drug policy development and enhance action to address drug problems.

Source: EMCDDA (2017),² p. 5

Lucy Dillon

 European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) (2023) Drug policy evaluation in Europe – topic overview. Lisbon: EMCDDA. Available from:

https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/ topic-overviews/policy-evaluation_en

2 European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) (2017) Evaluating drug policy: a seven-step guide to support the commissioning and managing of evaluations. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available from:

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/27536/



Dr Sarah Morton, director of the Community Partnership Drugs Programme, University College Dublin, presenting at the National Drugs Forum 2023

Advancing alcohol research in Ireland

Background

The first Health Research Board (HRB) conference solely dedicated to alcohol research was held on 14 September 2023 in partnership with the Department of Health. The event was opened by the HRB CEO, Dr Mairéad O'Driscoll, who welcomed the support of the Department of Health, which, along with the HRB, recognises the importance of and is committed to progressing alcohol-related research.

One of the objectives of the HRB Strategy 2021-2025 is to collect and report alcoholrelated data for policy and service planning purposes, and the event included speakers from across the organisation presenting the work of the HRB.¹ The strategy (key action 3.4) also promotes primary research and secondary data analysis to support drug and alcohol strategies at a national and European level. The HRB also has a responsibility to 'assist the Department of Health to monitor the Public Health Alcohol Act through data collection, validation, analysis and dissemination' (implementation action 3.4.4). This important obligation is achieved through the work of the team in the HRB Evidence Centre and through the alcohol overviews published periodically. Dr O'Driscoll acknowledged the work of the HRB, particularly that of the evidence team and the drugs and alcohol policy team, whose work has been instrumental in providing evidence to influence policy. An important example given was of collating key evidence of alcohol-related harm directly influential in the eventual passing of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act in 2018.²



L to R: Dr Sheila Gilheany, Alcohol Action Ireland CEO; Dr Mairéad O'Driscoll, HRB CEO; Professor Frank Murray, Alcohol Health Alliance chair; and Anne Doyle, HRB research officer

Why hold an alcohol-themed conference?

Alcohol continues to pose a significant public health problem, and throughout the course of the day, accounts were given of the profound impact of alcohol on individuals, families, and the wider community. This was the primary motivation for organising the conference, along with the concern that many of the key public health advocates who played a crucial role in the passage of the 2018 legislation have since retired, changed roles, or moved on for various reasons. In light of this, fear exists that the momentum may be lost in this transition period and that the implementation of the

Advancing alcohol research

Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018 may lead to the perception that alcohol-related harm has been effectively addressed, potentially hindering further action.

As such, alcohol as a public health issue runs the risk of falling down the Government's agenda as other public health issues take precedence, such as illicit drugs, vaping and smoking, obesity, mental health, and social deprivation, all of which are interrelated with alcohol but tend to be treated in silos. There are also conflicting priorities and pressure on the Government, particularly concerning the economic and cultural consequences of intervention, a concern that has intensified since the Covid-19 pandemic in terms of the night-time economy and the closure of pubs. These factors make it increasingly challenging for those advocating for public health to attract Government attention, with the danger that those with a vested interest in alcohol profits may exert more influence using arguments that further action or legislation is no longer required or is actively harming economic and cultural assets.

However, we know that there is public support for the legislation and that alcohol-related harm is not going away. Hospitalisations for alcoholrelated liver disease reached the highest rates ever recorded in 2021; the numbers receiving treatment for alcohol use have increased; and at least three people die every day due to alcohol use.^{3,4} Hence, the purpose of the conference was to showcase the ongoing work of those involved in this space; to demonstrate that there are many working hard to continue the groundbreaking efforts of our predecessors; to encourage more alcohol-related research; and to hear about and learn from the experiences of those who work in the community, who are the voice of the people experiencing alcoholrelated harm.

Presentations at the conference

Chair of the Alcohol Health Alliance, Professor Frank Murray, presented and chaired the first part of the day and reinforced the importance of evidence-informed alcohol policy and how this evidence led to the eventual implementation of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018. Dr Helen McAvoy, director of policy with the Institute of Public Health in Ireland, outlined the existing and proposed legislation governing alcohol use and raised concerns about the proposed Sale of Alcohol Bill 2022, which seeks to increase the availability of alcohol in our communities.⁵ Dr Frank Houghton, director of Social Sciences ConneXions at the Technological University of the Shannon, discussed the importance of research integrity and how to ensure impartial and trusted research when faced with an industry that acts as commercial determinants of health and who will often go to great lengths to prevent or dilute alcohol policies.

Chaired by Dr Nathan Critchlow, an academic fellow for the Society for the Study of Addiction based at the Institute for Social Marketing and Health, University of Stirling, the day continued with Dr Zubair Kabir, senior lecturer in public health at University College Cork, presenting evidence of alcohol-related harm in Ireland using data from the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) data source.⁶ As the HRB is home to the National Drugs Library, to give an overview of the wealth of information that can be accessed there, chartered information specialist Mary Dunne and chartered information officer Mairea Nelson talked the audience through how to stay up-to-date with the latest national and international alcohol-related research.

The afternoon session was chaired by Alcohol Forum Ireland CEO Paula Leonard and began with Dr Catherine Gill, HRB programme manager, advising on the various schemes provided by the HRB to potentially fund alcohol-related research. This was followed by Anne Doyle, HRB research officer, who provided a snapshot of the sources of alcohol-related data to encourage

Advancing alcohol research

continued

further alcohol-related research.

Ireland often looks to other jurisdictions to understand best practices for monitoring policy effectively. Hence, to give the Scottish experience, Professor Niamh Fitzgerald, professor of alcohol policy and director of the Institute for Social Marketing and Health at University of Stirling, spoke of her experience there in prioritising alcohol as a public health issue. Finally, Dr Susan Calnan, a postdoctoral researcher in the School of Public Health at University College Cork, reflected on how alcohol use can impact not only the individual but the entire family and wider community.

Poster presentations

Poster presentations provided a synopsis of the array of studies carried out, including:

- Alcohol use of women between 50 and 62 years, associated biopsychosocial factors, and primary care utilisation
- Rural hospitals' inpatient data on substance
 use
- Effective interventions and approaches in the delivery of integrated alcohol services in community settings
- Association of alcohol per capita with national, regional, and global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy and foetal alcohol syndrome
- A survey of Irish healthcare, social care, and education professionals' knowledge, attitudes, and experience of foetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD)
- Prenatal alcohol exposure
- Association between parental factors and adolescent alcohol consumption
- Risk factors for heavy episodic drinking in adolescents

• Evaluation of the school-based substance use prevention programme – Know the Score.

Conclusion

Ireland took the lead on a global scale with the introduction of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018, and many countries worldwide are watching with great interest to see how we perform. It is crucial therefore that those involved in public health work together to ensure its success and be proud of what has collectively been achieved.

Anne Doyle

- Health Research Board (2021) Strategy 2021–2025: Health research – making an impact. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available from: https://www.hrb.ie/about/strategy-2025/
- 2 Office of the Attorney General (2018) *Public Health* (*Alcohol*) *Act 2018*. Dublin: Irish Statute Book. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/33698/
- 3 O'Dwyer C, Mongan D, Doyle A and Galvin B (2021) Alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harm and alcohol policy in Ireland. HRB Overview Series 11. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/33909/
- 4 Calnan S, Millar SR and Mongan D (2023) Support for evidence-based alcohol policy in Ireland: results from a representative household survey. *Eur J Public Health*, 33: 323–330. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/38321/
- 5 Department of Justice (2022) *General Scheme: Sale* of Alcohol Bill 2022. Dublin: Government of Ireland. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/37347/
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (2020)
 Global Burden of Disease (GBD). Seattle, WA:
 University of Washington. Available from:
 https://www.healthdata.org/gbd

Recent research

Review of efficacy and safety of medicinal cannabis, 2024

The Medical Cannabis Access Programme in Ireland¹ currently provides access to cannabis to patients with one of three conditions when other treatments have been unsuccessful. The three conditions are spasticity (stiff and/ or rigid muscles) associated with multiple sclerosis, nausea and vomiting associated with chemotherapy, and severe epilepsy.

An evidence review was conducted by the Health Research Board (HRB) to inform a Department of Health review of the current Medicinal Cannabis Access Programme on the suitability of cannabis-based products for medical conditions.

Findings

The HRB found evidence to support the use of prescribed medicinal cannabis for certain conditions for which it is currently approved in Ireland. These are nausea and vomiting in cancer and spasticity in multiple sclerosis. There was also evidence of a significant benefit for neuropathic or nerve pain, which can occur with conditions such as multiple sclerosis, diabetes, or spinal cord injury.

For most other conditions, including anxiety and pain in conditions such as cancer, rheumatic diseases, and fibromyalgia, there was no conclusive evidence to confirm the efficacy of prescribed medicinal cannabis.

Regarding the safety of prescribed medicinal cannabis, the review found that although serious adverse events do not appear to be common, there is some evidence that some side-effects such as dizziness, dry mouth, sedation, and headache can occur. Mixed evidence was found, however, on the likelihood of other adverse events such as drowsiness, nausea, and any psychiatric disorder adverse events. The HRB findings are similar to those reported by other overviews.

Methodology

The HRB review was an overview of reviews. While traditional systematic reviews gather evidence from existing original research studies (primary studies), an overview of reviews gathers evidence from existing systematic reviews. We focused on systematic reviews of studies of adults who received prescribed medicinal cannabis containing natural or synthetic cannabidiol (CBD) or tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) or their derivatives, and excluded evidence on cannabis for recreational use or for medicinal use without prescription/medical supervision.

The 47 reviews included systematic reviews covering research from the last 30+ years on a wide range of medical conditions. These included cancer, multiple sclerosis, rheumatic diseases, chronic pain, and mental health and neuropsychological conditions.

Conclusion

The evidence review revealed a fragmented body of research. Many types of medicinal cannabis exist, making it difficult to gather a strong body of evidence for one particular formulation for a given condition or complaint. Further highquality research is needed based on randomised controlled trials. In the meantime, this review will help inform decision-making in relation to

Medicinal cannabis use review

continued

future policy on the use of prescribed medicinal cannabis along with input from patient groups, clinicians, and service planners.

The full text of the review is available for download on the HRB website.²

Kathryn Lambe

- 1 Department of Health (2020) Medical Cannabis Access Programme. Dublin: Department of Health. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/31653/
- 2 For further information, visit: https://www.hrb.ie/publications/

Alcohol-related emergency department presentations and hospital admissions following minimum unit pricing in Ireland

Background

In January 2022, Ireland introduced minimum unit pricing (MUP) at EUR 1.00 per 10 grams of alcohol as per Section 11 of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018.¹ The Act was introduced in response to the high level of alcohol use and related harms in Ireland. Alcohol-related hospital discharges are collected through the Hospital In-Patient Enquiry (HIPE) Scheme; however, the burden of alcohol-related harm in emergency departments (ED) in Ireland is largely unknown, as this information is not routinely collected.² One study in 2018 estimated that 6% of ED presentations are alcohol related.³ A study by Maharaj et al. in 2024 sought to determine the impact of alcohol on ED presentations and hospital admissions and to investigate if the introduction of MUP impacted such presentations or admissions.⁴

Methods

The study author was stationed in the ED of Beaumont Hospital, Dublin for two periods: one before the commencement of MUP (November–December 2021) and again following the commencement of MUP (February, March, and April 2022). Interviews with those who presented to ED were carried out and included a brief clinical history and type of alcohol usually consumed, and the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test–Concise (AUDIT–C) was administrated to determine drinking patterns of patients.⁵

Results

In period 1, some 364 patients were interviewed, while 361 patients were interviewed in period 2. Alcohol-related presentations accounted for 19.4% of all ED presentations. Males accounted for 63.1% of alcohol-related presentations

Alcohol-related emergency department presentations

continued

compared with 36.9% of females; those aged 40–50 years were more associated with alcohol-related ED presentations compared with other age groups.

The median AUDIT-C score for alcohol-related presentations was 9 (3 for overall sample). Wholly alcohol-attributable presentations were more common on Thursdays and Saturdays and the most common purpose of the ED visit was for acute injuries (32.6%), chest complaints (19.1%), and mental health queries (16.3%). Beer was the beverage preferred by 40.5% of the sample and wine by 24.0%.

In period 1, some 22.8% of ED presentations were alcohol related, while in period 2, it had reduced to 16.1%. However, acute wholly alcohol-related presentations increased by 19.8% between periods 1 and 2. Of all admissions to hospital, 17.3% were alcohol related (3.1% wholly alcohol-attributable); the number decreased between period 1 (19.7%) and period 2 (14.0%), although this decrease was not statistically significant.

Discussion

This study demonstrates the extent of the burden that alcohol places on Beaumont Hospital. Although the study found a significant reduction in alcohol-related ED presentations following the commencement of MUP, alcoholrelated hospital admissions did not decrease. The authors recommend the instruction of cost-effective alcohol care teams (ACTs) in Irish hospitals to reduce alcohol-related ED presentations, hospital admissions, and mortality.

Anne Doyle

- 1 Office of the Attorney General (2018) *Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018*. Dublin: Irish Statute Book. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/33698/
- 2 Healthcare Pricing Office (2004) Hospital In-Patient Enquiry (HIPE) Scheme. Dublin: Health Service Executive. Available from: https://www.hpo.ie/
- 3 McNicholl B, Goggin D and O'Donovan D (2018) Alcohol-related presentations to emergency departments in Ireland: a descriptive prevalence study. *BMJ Open*, 8: e021932. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/29070/
- 4 Maharaj T, Fitzgerald N, Gilligan E, Quirke M, MacHale S and Ryan JD (2024) Alcohol-related emergency department presentations and hospital admissions around the time of minimum unit pricing in Ireland. *Public Health*, 227: 38–41. Available from:

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40186/

5 Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC, Saunders JB and Monteiro MG (2001) AUDIT: The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test – guidelines for use in primary care. 2nd edn. Geneva: Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse, World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/14104/



Factors associated with suicide in people who use drugs

Suicide is a complex, major public health issue globally. While people who use drugs (PWUD) are known to be at increased risk of suicide, there is limited information on the specific candidate risk factors for this group, which could help to inform targeted interventions to reduce their risk. To this end, a scoping review was conducted with three aims: (1) to map the extent, range, and nature of available evidence on factors associated with death by suicide among PWUD; (2) to identify knowledge gaps and limitations in this body of evidence; and (3) to inform suicide prevention policy and best practice guidelines for working with PWUD, where appropriate.¹

Methods

The aim of scoping reviews is to systematically search for and then map all the evidence in relation to the research question. Scoping reviews encompass all available literature, both published and grey, with stakeholder consultation an important component. Unlike systematic reviews, this method in general does not include a quality appraisal of the literature.

Results

In total, 12,395 items published between 2000 and 2021 were identified, but following a screening process (e.g. removing duplicates; non-English language; insufficient data) only 53 items were included in the review. Most of the eligible studies were based on primary research (mainly uncontrolled retrospective studies), while the secondary research included literature reviews, reports, and editorials.

Eleven potential candidate risk factors for death by suicide among PWUD were found: sex; mental health conditions; periods of heightened vulnerability; age profile; use of stimulants, cannabis, or new psychoactive substances; specific medical conditions; lack of dual diagnosis service provision; homelessness; incarceration; intravenous drug use; and race or ethnicity. Some of the literature associated with each of the candidate risk factors is highlighted below; however, as this was a scoping review and not a systematic review, the findings must be interpreted as such.

Sex

Male sex as a risk factor featured in over onehalf of the studies. However, some of the studies did find an increased risk among women who used drugs compared with men, for example, in relation to potential years of life lost. In the studies that only included women who used drugs, the risk of death by suicide was linked to high levels of mental health issues.

Mental health conditions

Two-fifths of the included publications cited mental health conditions as a candidate factor, with depressive disorders most frequently mentioned. Two studies among people who used opioids found high rates of depressive disorders or history of suicide attempts (between 65% and 89%), but the overall number of suicide deaths was low.

Periods of heightened vulnerability

The literature pointed to vulnerable periods where the risk of suicide was heightened. This included commencing or stopping opioid agonist treatment (OAT), disengaging/leaving health services, and (for women) the first months of imprisonment.

Factors associated with suicide in people who use drugs

continued

Age profile

Of the seven publications that included an age profile, most indicated that younger PWUD were at risk of death by suicide, although the definition of 'younger age' varied (from teens to those in their forties) across the publications. Of the studies that focused on opioid use, one found that being older when starting treatment conferred a higher risk of suicide.

Use of stimulants, cannabis, or new psychoactive substances

Stimulants (including cocaine), cannabis, or new psychoactive substances (NPS) were the focus of some studies. Six studies found that the use of these substances were potential candidate risk factors for violent non-poisoning suicide deaths, for example, by hanging. This suggests that these drugs may increase impulsivity and risk-taking, leading to a more violent manner of death.

Specific medical conditions

Blood-borne viruses were the most common conditions cited in the studies, with HIV infection in particular linked as a candidate risk factor for people who used opioids. However, history of cancer and chronic pain were also found as risk factors among people who used opioids.

Lack of dual diagnosis service provision

Some of the issues found were in relation to non-integrated addiction services and mental health services as well as poor levels of diagnosis or treatment of dual diagnosis. However, all highlighted the complex medical and psychological needs of this group.

Homelessness

While there is a higher rate of homelessness among PWUD compared with the general population, three studies did show that being homeless increased the risk of death by suicide in both men and women who use drugs.

Incarceration

Two of the three studies that identified incarceration as a candidate factor showed a clear link between lack of OAT in prison and increased risk of death by suicide.

Intravenous drug use

Three studies identified a history of intravenous drug use as a potential candidate risk factor, in particular poly-intravenous drug use. One study identified a higher risk for men compared with women.

Race or ethnicity

While only two studies found race or ethnicity as a risk factor, both were cohort studies (despite relatively dated data). An Italian study found a higher risk of suicide for people who used heroin and who were born outside Italy. An American study found that cocaine use was associated with a higher risk of suicide among African Americans compared with White Americans.

Issues for consideration

A significant number of the studies related to people who used opioids, perhaps because of existence of well-established OAT registers, where data on this population are readily available. The impact of drugs other than opioids also needs to be considered, such as cannabis as the most commonly used substance globally.

Factors associated with suicide in people who use drugs continued

Strengths and limitations

This is the first scoping review on factors associated with death by suicide in PWUD. While the strength of the review is that it includes all types of literature, it does not include any indepth assessment of the quality of the evidence.

Other limitations were an over-representation of articles from Europe and Australia. As many of the American articles overlapped with military veteran research, they did not meet the strict criteria of this scoping review. There was also over-representation of people with HIV in relation to studies on intravenous drug use and blood-borne viruses, meaning that this may be a potential confounder.

Therefore, these specific candidate risk factors for PWUD should be considered when developing suicide prevention policies. Additionally, there is a need for better-quality robust, prospective primary research among PWUD to gain a greater understanding of the risk factors associated with suicide in this group.

Suzi Lyons

 Devin J, Lyons S, Murphy L, O'Sullivan M and Lynn E (2023) Factors associated with suicide in people who use drugs: a scoping review. *BMC Psychiatry*, 23: 655. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39507/

Prevalence and current situation

HIV incidence among people who inject drugs in Ireland, 2000–2018

Globally, there are an estimated 15.6 million people who inject drugs (PWID).¹ Among PWID, the risk of acquiring HIV is more than 30 times higher than the rest of the population.² However, HIV incidence has declined among PWID in Western Europe over the last two decades. In light of this improved situation, a 2023 study investigated changes in HIV incidence in Ireland among PWID from 2000 to 2018.²

In this study, published in the journal *Addiction*, data on new diagnoses of HIV among PWID, as reported by the Health Protection Surveillance Centre, were examined. New HIV cases in two time periods (2000–2009 and 2010–2018) were compared by sex, age group, area of residence, and country of birth.

HIV incidence

A total of 753 cases were reported in PWID in Ireland between 2000 and 2018. During this time period, HIV incidence among 15–29-year-old PWID in Ireland declined from 5.69 to 0.11 cases per 100,000 persons, equivalent to 0.22 cases per 100,000 annually. Among PWID aged 30–64 years, HIV incidence declined annually by 0.06 cases per 100,000.

HIV incidence among people who inject drugs in Ireland continued

Variable	2000-2009	2010-2018	Total	
	n (%)	n (%)	n	— р
Sex				
Male	367 (67.2)	152 (73.4)	519	0.10
Female	179 (32.8)	55 (26.6)	234	
Age				
<30 years	261 (47.8)	46 (22.2)	307	<0.001
≥30 years	285 (52.2)	161 (77.8)	446	
Area of residence				
East	289 (77.1)	153 (73.9)	442	0.39
Other	86 (22.9)	54 (26.1)	140	
Country of birth				
Ireland	286 (76.3)	121 (58.5)	407	<0.001
Elsewhere	55 (14.7)	58 (28.0)	113	
Unknown	34 (9.1)	28 (13.5)	62	

Table 1: Comparison of new diagnoses of HIV in Ireland between 2000–2009 and 2010–2018

Source: McCarron

Comparisons of new diagnoses

Table 1 shows the comparisons of new diagnoses of HIV among PWID during the first half of the study period (2000–2009) and the second half (2010–2018). Although there was a small increase in the number of males diagnosed with HIV, this finding was not statistically significant. There was a relative increase in HIV cases among older adults, while those born outside of Ireland accounted for a growing minority of cases (14.7% to 28.0%).

Conclusions

The authors observed that since 2000, Ireland has achieved an ongoing reduction in HIV among PWID and that this reduction has occurred in the context of a reasonably comprehensive health-led and harm-reduction-orientated drugs strategy. Nevertheless, HIV outbreaks among PWID that were observed in 2014/2015 in Ireland highlight the ongoing challenges faced by surveillance, treatment, and harm-reduction services.

Seán Millar

- Degenhardt L, Peacock A, Colledge S, et al. (2017) Global prevalence of injecting drug use and sociodemographic characteristics and prevalence of HIV, HBV, and HCV in people who inject drugs: a multistage systematic review. Lancet Glob Health, 5(12): e1192–e1207.
- 2 McCarron P and Smyth BP (2023) Changes in HIV incidence in people who inject drugs in Ireland from 2000 to 2018: longitudinal observational study. *Addiction*, 118(6): 1177–1181. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/38061/

Drug use during pregnancy in Dublin City, 2010–2019

Drug use during pregnancy is a worldwide problem and the consequences of continued drug misuse in pregnancy can be significant.¹ Pregnancy may provide opportunities to engage vulnerable women in essential healthcare. However, women with an addiction may have poor adherence with prenatal appointments, presenting late in pregnancy or not until labour. Hence, drug liaison midwives (DLMs) were appointed to the three Dublin maternity hospitals in 1999.

A 2023 retrospective observational cohort study was conducted at an Irish tertiary maternity unit.² In this study, published in the *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, all women with opioid use disorder (OUD) or substance use in pregnancy delivered under this service between 2010 and 2019 were included. Data were collected by combining electronic and hand-held patient records, and trends and outcomes were analysed by year of delivery.

Findings

The main findings from the review included the following:

- Of the 82,669 women delivered, 525 had OUD or substance use in pregnancy (1 in every 160 women booking into the service). Some 11.6% were homeless, 20% were in full-time employment, and 91% smoked tobacco in pregnancy. Some 66.3% had a history of psychiatric disorders.
- Over the 10 years, there was a significant reduction in women delivered with OUD or substance use in pregnancy (0.8–0.4%, RR=0.55, 95% CI: 0.36–0.85) and a

significant reduction in the proportion of women on opioid substitute treatment (RR=0.66, 95% CI: 0.51–0.87).

 Rates of cocaine and cannabis consumption increased (20.6%, RR=3.8, 95% CI: 1.57–9.44; 24%, RR=3.7, 95% CI: 1.58–8.86, respectively).

Conclusions

The authors noted that the study shows a change in the profile of the women with substance use in pregnancy, with significant increases seen in the numbers of women using cocaine and cannabis in pregnancy. They suggest that specialist antenatal addiction services, coordinated by the DLM, are critical in adapting care to respond to this dynamic and vulnerable patient cohort.

Seán Millar

- Covington CY, Nordstrom-Klee B, Ager J, Sokol R and Delaney-Black V (2002) Birth to age 7 growth of children prenatally exposed to drugs: a prospective cohort study. *Neurotoxicol Teratol*, 24(4): 489–496.
- 2 Corbett GA, Carmody D, Rochford M, Cunningham O, Lindow SW and O'Connell MP (2023) Drug use in pregnancy in Ireland's capital city: a decade of trends and outcomes. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 282: 24–30. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/37901/

Trends in alcohol and drug admissions to psychiatric facilities

The annual report published by the Mental Health Information Systems Unit of the Health Research Board, National Psychiatric Inpatient Reporting System (NPIRS) annual report on the activities of Irish psychiatric units and hospitals, 2022,¹ shows that the rate of new admissions to inpatient care for alcohol disorders has decreased.

In 2022, some 806 cases were admitted to psychiatric facilities with an alcohol disorder, of whom 263 were treated for the first time. Figure 1 presents the rates of first admission between 2002 and 2022 for cases with a diagnosis of an alcohol disorder. Trends over time indicate an overall decline in first admissions. Just over onethird (35.3%) of cases hospitalised for an alcohol disorder in 2022 stayed just under 1 week, while 26.5% of cases were hospitalised for between 1 and 3 months, similar to previous years.

In 2022, some 813 cases were admitted to psychiatric facilities with a drug disorder. Of these cases, 318 were treated for the first time. Figure 2 presents the rates of first admission between 2002 and 2022 for cases with a diagnosis of a drug disorder. The admission rate in 2022 was lower than the previous year and is the lowest rate recorded since 2008. It should be noted that the report does not present data on drug use and psychiatric comorbidity; it is therefore not possible to determine whether or not these admissions were appropriate.



Source: Daly and Lynn (2023)

Figure 1: Rates of psychiatric first admission of cases with a diagnosis of an alcohol disorder per 100,000 of population in Ireland, 2002–2022



Trends in alcohol and drug admissions to psychiatric facilities continued

Source: Daly and Lynn (2023)

Figure 2: Rates of psychiatric first admission of cases with a diagnosis of a drug disorder per 100,000 of population in Ireland, 2002–2022

Other notable statistics on admissions for a drug disorder in 2022 include the following:

- Just under one-half of cases hospitalised for a drug disorder stayed under 1 week (44.7%), while 99.4% were discharged within 3 months. It should be noted that admissions and discharges represent episodes or events and not persons.
- 23.0% of first-time admissions were involuntary.
- Similar to previous years, the rate of firsttime admissions was higher for men (10.7 per 100,000 population) than for women (2.7 per 100,000 population).

Seán Millar

 Daly A and Lynn E (2023) National Psychiatric Inpatient Reporting System (NPIRS) annual report on the activities of Irish psychiatric units and hospitals, 2022. HRB StatLink Series 13. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39109/

Responses

More Than That Festival – celebrating recovery from addiction

The inaugural More Than That Festival to mark recovery month was held in Naas, Co. Kildare, on 30 September 2023. It was organised by the South Western Regional Drugs and Alcohol Task Force (SWRDATF) area to celebrate recovery from addiction.¹ A series of activities and events were held throughout the day, beginning with the Recovery Champions 5K Run, which featured famous Kildare faces such as former Gaelic footballer Anthony Rainbow, leading out a run/ walk in support of addiction recovery.

The festival continued with music and conversation with musician and mental health advocate Bressie (Niall Breslin) at Naas Farmers Market followed by Lunchtime Songs and [Funny] Stories, culminating in the 'Leave a Light On' Fireside event hosted by former 2FM DJ Keith Walsh. A lively and often emotional evening of music and heartfelt stories of addiction and recovery experiences could not but move the audience.

Former Ireland international footballer Niall Quinn regaled the audience with tales from his time with Arsenal Football Club in the 1980s and 1990s, but it wasn't all glitz and glamour! Niall recalled a team sheet his mother had kept dating back to one of his early days at Arsenal. He went on to list the (many) names of players who had developed addiction issues and how alcohol, drugs, and gambling had been such a core part of many of their lives.



L to R: Keith Walsh, Kiera Dignam, Mary Hulgraine, Aubrey McCarthy, and Niall Quinn

Aubrey McCarthy, chairperson of SWRDATF, presented the Christy Dignam Recovery Champion award to Mary Hulgraine, the Kildare GAA All-Star ladies footballer and mental health advocate in acknowledgement of her work educating others about addiction recovery. Mary's own recovery story began with her winning a prestigious college basketball scholarship in the United States. However, prescribed OxyContin after surgery for a leg injury led to dependency on the drug and later alcohol too. Back in Ireland, her mental health problems and addiction continued, but having hit

More Than That Festival continued

rock bottom, a chance meeting with a stranger while out walking her dog on the Curragh ignited some hope. Mary now shares her experience openly to highlight how recovery is possible.

The night ended with the audience on their feet, singing along to a rousing rendition of 'Crazy World' led by Kiera Dignam, daughter of the late Christy Dignam, and words from Steven Joyce, community harm prevention coordinator, declaring that 'the light is on and we're going to bring them home'.

Anne Doyle

 For further information on the More Than That Festival, visit: http://swrdatf.ie/more-than-that-festival-30thseptember-2023/

HSE AskAboutAlcohol website analyses, 2022–2023

Background

The Alcohol Programme in the Health Service Executive (HSE) was established in 2016 to address the impact of alcohol-related harm on individuals, families, and children. The programme aims to decrease per capita alcohol use to 9.1% (10.2 litres in 2022), in accordance with the Healthy Ireland Framework 2013–2025.^{1,2} The work of the HSE Alcohol Programme involves collaborating with the Department of Health, Alcohol Health Alliance Ireland, and other stakeholders to actively support the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018. This involves identifying national priority areas, supporting effective policies, and advocating for evidencebased interventions and community action as well as informing and supporting the public in reducing alcohol use and signposting to support services through the AskAboutAlcohol campaign and website.³

AskAboutAlcohol website

The HSE AskAboutAlcohol website is a resource available to the public to seek impartial advice about alcohol use and alcohol-related harms. Users of the website can access a drinks calculator to determine how much alcohol they are drinking and how much money they are spending on alcohol per week. By entering this information, users receive feedback on whether they are exceeding the HSE low-risk alcohol guidelines or not, as well as advice about the harms associated with alcohol and a link to further advice on how to reduce alcohol use and the benefits of doing so.⁴

Information is provided on alcohol use and pregnancy, alcohol dependency, information for parents, advice for reducing alcohol use, and a list of services that can support individuals and their families who are impacted by alcohol. The website also contains a self-assessment tool, where visitors can complete an effective, brief screening test to identify potential problem drinking.

HSE AskAboutAlcohol website analyses continued

AskAboutAlcohol selfassessment tool

At total of 24,205 people filled out the AskAboutAlcohol.ie online self-assessment tool between 1 December 2022 and 30 November 2023 inclusive. The self-assessment tool is based on the World Health Organization (WHO) Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT), a 10item tool used to screen for alcohol problems.⁵ AUDIT scores can range from 0 to 40, where a score of 0–7 represents low-risk drinking; 8–15 increasing risk drinking; 16–19 high-risk drinking; and a score of 20 or greater indicates possible dependence.

Methods

Data were screened for anomalies and outliers. Ten respondents were removed as they reported an age of 100 years or greater. The age range of remaining respondents was 18–98 years. One respondent who reported drinking 477 standard drinks in the last week was identified as an outlier and also removed from the analyses, while 99 cases were removed as they did not enter a number of drinks despite stating that they drink alcohol regularly. Following the removal of these 110 cases, a total of 24,095 cases were included in the analyses.

Respondents were grouped into the following six age brackets: 15–24 years; 25–34 years; 35–44 years; 45–54 years; 55–64 years; 65 years and older. Statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS Version 29. Chi-squared tests were carried out to test for statistical significance between AUDIT scores and demographic variables of age, gender, and region. An alpha level of p <0.05 indicated statistical significance.

Findings

Profile of respondents using the online assessment tool

Table 1 provides a breakdown of the demographics of those who completed the online assessment tool. More females (53.7%) than males (46.3%) completed the selfassessment tool. Those aged between 35 and 54 years represented 44.8% of all respondents. Demographic data collected by the site identified users from all 26 counties in the Republic of Ireland, with the highest number of responses coming from the most populated counties, Dublin (13.9%) and Cork (9.8%).

Drinking classification of respondents

The mean score of respondents (n=24,095) on AUDIT was 13.9 (SD=8.8). Such a score indicates hazardous alcohol use or 'increasing risk' alcohol use. Table 1 indicates that 31.2% of drinkers were classified as low risk according to AUDIT; 29.5% were classified as hazardous or increasing risk drinkers; 13.0% as high-risk or harmful drinkers; and over one-quarter of those who completed the online assessment tool were classified as having probable alcohol dependence (26.3%).

There were significantly more males than females in the harmful drinking and probable dependence groups. Of males who completed the self-assessment tool, one-third (33.7%) were classified as having probable alcohol dependence, with one-fifth of women (20.0%) meeting these criteria.

Those in the 15–24 years age group (35.4%) and the 25–34 years age group (35.6%) were the most likely to score as probable dependence category. There was no statistically significant difference in scores across the five regions.

HSE AskAboutAlcohol website analyses continued

	Total	Low risk (0–7)	Increasing risk (8–15)	High risk (16–19)	Possible dependence (20+)	p
Total	24,095	7512 (31.2%)	7114 (29.5%)	3143 (13.0%)	6326 (26.3)	
Gender (n=23,837)ª						<0.0001
Male	11,027 (46.3%)	2037 18.5%)	3570 (32.4%)	1706 (15.5%)	3714 (33.7%)	
Female	12,810 (53.7%)	5375 (42.0%)	3461 (27.0%)	1412 (11.0%)	2562 (20.0%)	
Age (n=23,340) ^b						<0.0001
15–24 years	2797 (12.0%)	646 (23.1%)	718 (25.7%)	442 (15.8%)	991 (35.4%)	
25–34 years	3395 (14.5%)	715 (21.1%)	906 (26.7%)	564 (16.6%)	1210 (35.6%)	
35-44 years	5037 (21.6%)	1315 (26.1%)	1508 (29.9%)	696 (13.8%)	1518 (30.1%)	
45–54 years	5423 (23.2%)	1767 (32.6%)	1741 (32.1%)	682 (12.6%)	1233 (22.7%)	
55–64 years	4339 (18.6%)	1652 (38.1%)	1384 (31.9%)	465 (10.7%)	838 (19.3%)	
65+ years	2349 (10.1%)	1165 (49.6%)	646 (27.5%)	191 (8.1%)	347 (14.8%)	
Region (n=22,457)°						0.087
Connacht	3130 (26.4%)	1044 (14.8%)	865 (12.9%)	410 (14.2%)	811 (14.1%)	
Ulster	1422 (22.7%)	454 (6.4%)	410 (6.1%)	183 (6.3%)	375 (6.5%)	
Dublin	6879 (13.9%)	2136 (30.2%)	2097 (31.2%)	930 (32.2%)	1716 (29.7%)	
Leinster ^d	5937 (6.3%)	1862 (26.3%)	1810 (26.9%)	732 (25.4%)	1533 (26.6%)	
Munster	5089 (30.6%)	1580 (22.3%)	1545 (23.0%)	630 (21.8%)	1334 (23.1%)	

Table 1: Demographic profile of respondents, by drinker type

^a Gender missing for 258 respondents.

^b Age missing for 755 respondents.

Conclusion

The analyses indicate that almost two-fifths of the users of the AskAboutAlcohol.ie online self-assessment tool met the AUDIT criteria for harmful drinking or probable dependence (scoring 16 or greater), with rates highest among males and young people. Upon completion of the self-assessment tool, users are informed if their drinking is within low-risk limits or if their drinking is considered to be placing them at risk of harm and the potential impact of such drinking patterns. Further information is available on how to seek support for themselves or family members. ^c Province missing for 1638 respondents.

^d Excluding Dublin.

It is important to note that these results are not representative of the Irish population, as those who are conscious about their health are more inclined to seek out health-related information.⁶ Or the high number of hazardous and possible dependent drinkers may be due to higher numbers of people who are already concerned about their drinking completing the test. The online format may restrict certain groups such as older people and may have been completed by the same individual multiple times or have been completed on someone else's behalf by a concerned friend or relative.

HSE AskAboutAlcohol website analyses continued

Finally, it is important to note that AUDIT is intended as a screening tool for harmful or hazardous patterns of drinking, not as a diagnostic tool for alcohol dependence. Those meeting the criteria for possible dependence should therefore not be taken as having the equivalent diagnosis of alcohol dependence, but rather an indication of a potentially harmful or dependent pattern of drinking. The fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) is considered more accurate in measuring for an alcohol use disorder (AUD).⁷ DSM-5 was used in the National Drug and Alcohol Survey, which is based on a representative sample of the Irish population, and found that 14.8% of the general population in Ireland aged 15 years and older had an AUD, from mild (11.6%), moderate (5.4%) to severe AUD (3.1%).8

Anne Doyle

- Revenue, Irish Tax and Customs (2022) Revenue quarterly excise receipts and volumes. Dublin: Revenue, Irish Tax and Customs. Available from: https://www.revenue.ie/en/corporate/ information-about-revenue/statistics/excise/ receipts-volume-and-price/quarterly-update. aspx
- 2 Department of Health (2013) Healthy Ireland: a framework for improved health and wellbeing 2013–2025. Dublin: Department of Health. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/19628/
- Health Service Executive (HSE) (2021)
 AskAboutAlcohol. HSE our health service. Dublin:
 HSE. Available from:
 https://www2.hse.ie/alcohol/
- 4 Health Service Executive (2022) HSE weekly lowrisk alcohol guidelines. Dublin: HSE. Available from: https://www2.hse.ie/wellbeing/alcohol/ improve-your-health/weekly-low-risk-alcoholguidelines.html

- 5 Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC, Saunders JB and Monteiro MG (2001) AUDIT: The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test – guidelines for use in primary care. 2nd edn. Geneva: Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse, World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/14104/
- 6 Dutta-Bergman MJ (2004) Primary sources of health information: comparisons in the domain of health attitudes, health cognitions, and health behaviors. *Health Commun*, 16(3): 273–288.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM– 5). 5th edn. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- 8 Mongan D, Millar SR and Galvin B (2021) *The 2019–20 Irish National Drug and Alcohol Survey: main findings*. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/34287/



Keynote speaker, Professor Kerstin Mey, president of the University of Limerick, at the National Drugs Forum 2023

Scenarios development workshop at National Drugs Forum, 2023

Purpose of scenario development in drug policy

All foresight work involves developing a capacity to identify weak signals, considering how they may react within a specified environment, and determining the level of attention they deserve. Epidemiologists and drug policy experts anticipate greater diversity in patterns of drug use as the plant-based drugs that have dominated the picture in recent decades are partially replaced by synthetic drugs and polydrug use becomes increasingly common. Geopolitical changes, the emergence of new trafficking routes, and other supply-related factors add further complexity. As with any complex system, it is problematic to assign significance to a particular variable in the drugs field, especially if it is difficult to discern. We can easily overlook signals or fail to recognise their potential significance or predict what signals will become trends. There are cognitive as well as imaginative factors that can impede a thoughtful consideration of possible future events, but foresight helps us to identify what these barriers are and allows us to be more playful and open in considering signals. It is a valuable tool for developing anticipatory capacity and considering the range of possible outcomes from currently observable trends.

Scenario planning

Scenario planning presents a particular challenge. An approach that is often adopted in business and policy fields is to make our assumptions about the future explicit and then challenge them by imagining very different outcomes.¹ By articulating or illustrating concepts of the future, they become part of



Trevor Bisset facilitating the workshop on strategic foresight, Imagining 2040, at the National Drugs Forum 2023

the discourse, and our capacity to prepare for them helps us to make an impact in the present. This is the anticipation which is the goal of all foresight work. It aims to alert actors to possible developments before it is too late or while they still have some power to influence the course of events and, otherwise, to confront successfully the challenges that were hopefully anticipated. Ideally, this is developed in an environment where experts are encouraged to be creative, respectful of the expertise of other perspectives, and have access to quantitative evidence to support conclusions. But also to have access to gualitative data relative to the so-called 'soft variables', which may be difficult to discern but often play a determining role in shaping the future of a given topic, country or organisation; hence their importance in the analysis.2

Scenarios are internally consistent hypothetical yet plausible events, or series of events, constructed to enable us to see the processes that might lead to this event and inform the actions we can take to either bring it about

Scenarios development workshop at National Drugs Forum continued



Dr Anna Sacio-Szymańska leading the workshop on strategic foresight, Imagining 2040, at the National Drugs Forum 2023

or prevent it. Scenario planning identifies trends and key uncertainties which can then be combined to create a picture of the future. There are several techniques of scenario planning, but all begin with a definition of scope: what is the broad question we want to answer? Several trends are identified and from these key drivers for a scenario workshop are selected. Two extremes describe the ends of the spectrum of possible outcomes from these drivers. These outcomes are the key uncertainties, and two of these uncertainties can be combined to create the scenario matrix.³

Scenario planning workshop

The aim of the scenario planning workshop at the National Drugs Forum, which took place on 16 November 2023 at Croke Park in Dublin, was to develop futures literacy among the forum participants by working with the notions of uncertainty and scenarios. The discussion held at the workshop was on the future of problem substance use among young people in Ireland in 2040, to identify potential future threats and to explore ideas and recommendations regarding response activities. The workshop was a very condensed approach to scenario planning,

which can often take place over several days. The workshop organisers decided to use the Rip Van Winkle technique,⁴ in which participants are asked to imagine that they have just woken from a sleep of several years and must think of a number of questions they need to ask about the world they find themselves in. Each question has a 'yes' or 'no' answer and reveals aspects of what the questioner is uncertain about, which allows the identification of crucial and simultaneously - 'vulnerable' assumptions about the future of problem substance use among young people in Ireland in 2040. It was decided to undertake this part of the exercise using an online survey of registered participants in the National Drugs Forum.

Identifying clusters of uncertainties

The survey identified a list of uncertainties, which was then arranged into 14 topic clusters. These defined the framework drivers of change for the workshop. Two extreme outcomes were assigned for each uncertainty cluster and the workshop participants were asked to select two uncertainties to construct the scenario matrix (see Table 1). Using these two key uncertainties, each group in the workshop prepared four scenario snapshots using a 2x2 matrix.



Imagining 2040 – participants engaging in the workshop on strategic foresight at the National Drugs Forum 2023

Scenarios development workshop at National Drugs Forum continued

Table 1: Scenario matrix based on 14 clusters of uncertainties

Clusters of uncertainties	Minimum	Maximum
Prevalence and trends	Demand for synthetic drugs have collapsed and only plant-based substances are produced	Almost all substances being consumed are synthetic
Normalisation and social acceptance	It is not socially acceptable nor considered appropriate to discuss drug consumption	It is socially accepted to consume drugs in public places
Regulation, legalisation, and criminal sanctions	Criminal sanctions apply for possession of controlled substances, even for personal use	There are no legal sanctions applying to possession or use of any substance
Harm and safety	Increasingly dangerous drugs have not deterred risky behaviour and poisonings increase every year	A highly regulated market provides relatively safe drugs in many outlets
Mental health treatment	There are strict limitations imposed on medical substance use; increased control on licensed prescribers; the list of substances used for medical purposes has been narrowed down	Non-medical substance use increases; new cheap, safe drugs are easily available and widely used to deal with anxiety, stress, mood, etc. (like vitamins today)
Education and prevention	There is a widespread lack of trust in prevention messages	Early intervention and prevention systems are in place and working effectively
Support services	Most health services are privatised	There is immediate access to specialised treatment for all
Family and community	Poor infrastructure and public services create large areas of deprivation and alienation	The '15-minute city' is a reality and communities are vibrant and cohesive
Funding, research, and policy	There is no public funding for drug-related research	Policy is based strongly on interdisciplinary research evidence
Role of big tech	People do not have control over their personal data. There is widespread usage of sensitive personal and medical data by big tech/artificial intelligence (AI) companies to monitor users' behaviours as predictors for automated health and treatment advice (social engineering, monopolist approach)	People have control over their personal health-related, medical personal data and their 'digital footprint'. They can decide to whom and to which data they would like to provide access to get personalised health and treatment advice. There are no big tech/Al monopolies
Cultural shift and media	Development of the metaverse has transferred all social activity into the digital world; even substance use is happening in virtual communities facilitated by new functionalities of gaming and online dating apps	There is a massive return to real-life social encounters and interactions; people spend almost no time alone; new societal groups and movements are on the rise (substance-free and substance- liberated)
External drivers (economic, environmental, geopolitical)	Climate crisis and economic stagnation delays initiation into adulthood, career development, and family formation	Climate catastrophe is averted and Al and renewable energy provide plentiful career opportunities

Scenarios development workshop at National Drugs Forum continued

Clusters of uncertainties	Minimum	Maximum
Crime violence and drug markets	Security services tolerate operation of drug markets and organised crime groups control large sections of the urban environment	Drug markets operate at a low level with individuals making purchases online or outside locality
Innovations in treatment	Substitution is no longer effective in treating dependency. Psychosocial counselling has limited impact in response to synthetic drugs	Treatment dependency is a major medical discipline, in response to the need to reduce non-communicable diseases. Telemedicine and personalised care are highly advanced

Table 2: Sample of scenarios based on two key uncertainties selected by group

Uncertainties selected	Examples of scenarios developed
Harm and safety Support services	The quadrant combining a regulated market and good availability of services presented a hopeful scenario in which deaths and crime were reduced and mental health services were capable of dealing with the consequences of increased use. A much bleaker scenario was envisaged in the lower left quadrant, with a health and law enforcement service unable to cope with loose regulation.
	Another table saw the combination of increased regulation and limited services as a recipe for social and economic upheaval. Regulation can increase safety but only in a situation where there is equality of access to services
Harm and safety Funding, research, and policy	In a regulated environment, in which research is well-supported, there will be a reduction in harms and an increasing capacity to identify emerging trends and share learning between service providers. While the opposite quadrant describes increasing harms and a lack of knowledge, there are increased opportunities for communities to organise and advocate for change
Harm and safety Family and community	Where a lack of support for communities is combined with looser regulation, the lack of infrastructure will mean exploitation of vulnerable groups, poor information, and disorganised harm reduction services. A different combination sees less criminal convictions and more support for those dependent on drugs closer to their own homes
Prevalence and trends Innovations in treatment	A drugs market dominated by synthetic drugs and where highly advanced treatment modes are available could see a much greater availability of new drugs, but the AI, on which much treatment will depend, will make critical information available quickly and reduce harms. However, if treatment does not advance, a high prevalence of synthetic drugs could have severe consequences and a collapse in harm reduction services. Another table that worked with these two uncertainties concluded that more effective
	services may result in less reluctance to use novel drugs, but the harms could be offset by extensive drug checking in a more regulated market
Innovations in treatment Regulation, legalisation, and criminal sanctions	Without changes to the legal status of drugs, even highly effective treatment will have reduced impact as people may be reluctant to enter treatment. There will be an increase in short-term treatment and use of emergency services and a highly medicalised approach to treatment. Where conventional treatments have become less effective, slow change in the regulatory environment will mean clients presenting with more complex health needs, a sharp upturn in drug deaths, and severe social dislocation

Scenarios development workshop at National Drugs Forum continued

Scenarios development workshop

Nine separate groups participated in the workshop, where each created scenarios based on the two key uncertainties they selected. A group of stakeholders who had participated in a previous foresight exercise with the Health Research Board (HRB) volunteered to facilitate the tables at the workshop. National Drugs Forum participants willingly engaged in the work and there was lively and open discussion at each table. There was considerable variety in the key drivers chosen to develop the scenarios, and the results provided a fascinating insight into how people imagine the uncertainties that our 2040 colleagues will face. Table 2 presents a sample of some scenarios created during the workshop.

The scenarios development workshop at the National Drugs Forum complements the work on horizon scanning, a different but related foresight technique that the HRB is undertaking as part of DRUG-PREP, a European Commission-funded project. The findings of this research will be published in 2024.

Conclusion

Researchers in strategic foresight often refer to the goal of 'futures literacy'.⁵ One step in developing futures literacy is to use imagination and discussion to make assumptions about the future explicit and enable people to use their anticipatory capacity to describe what this future might be. A scenarios development workshop is a useful way of facilitating the generation of these ideas. While the workshop at the National Drugs Forum was a brief and limited exercise in strategic foresight, it confirmed that there was real interest and enthusiasm among stakeholders in engaging in this work and agreement on the relevance of foresight concepts to prepare for uncertainty in a complex and challenging policy area.

The HRB would like to thank all those who participated in the workshop and contributed to the lively and robust discussion. We particularly want to thank the facilitators who helped these discussions along with great skill and patience and have previously been involved in a number of HRB foresight exercises: Dermot King, Joseph Kirby, Paddy Clark, Bríd Walsh, Nicola Corrigan, Nicki Killeen, Aoibhinn King, John Doyle, Marie-Claire McAleer, Richie Stafford, Karen O'Connor, and Trevor Bissett.

A very special thanks to Anna Sacio-Szymańska from 4CF The Futures Literacy Company,⁶ who worked closely with the HRB in preparing for this event and provided expert guidance on the day. Anna's deep knowledge of the discipline and her entertaining and insightful presentation made a deep impression on the forum delegates and ensured that the workshop achieved the aims set for it.

Brian Galvin

- Ramírez R and Wilkinson A (2016) Strategic reframing: the Oxford Scenario Planning Approach. Oxford: Oxford Academic. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ acprof:oso/9780198745693.001.0001
- 2 de Jouvenel H (2019) Futuribles: origins, philosophy, and practices – anticipation for action. World Futures Review, 11(1): 8–18. Available from: https:// doi.org/10.1177/1946756718777490
- Bishop P, Hines A and Collins T (2007) The current state of scenario development: an overview of techniques. *Foresight*, 9(1): 5–25. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1108/14636680710727516
- 4 Dewar JA (2002) Assumption-based planning: a tool for reducing avoidable surprises. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 5 Miller R (ed.) (2018) *Transforming the future: anticipation in the 21st century*. Abingdon and New York: UNESCO Publishing and Routledge. Available from:

https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/ pf0000264644

6 For further information on 4CF The Futures Literacy Company, visit: https://4cf.eu/

Merchants Quay Ireland annual review, 2021

Merchants Quay Ireland (MQI) is a national voluntary agency providing services for homeless people and those that use drugs. There are 22 MQI locations in 13 counties in the Republic of Ireland (see Figure 1). MQI aims to offer accessible, high-quality, and effective services to people dealing with homelessness and addiction in order to meet their complex needs in a non-judgemental and compassionate way. This article highlights services provided by MQI to people who use drugs in Ireland in 2021.¹



Source: *Merchants Quay Ireland annual review 2021*, p. 36 The 13 counties are Dublin, Wicklow, Carlow, Cork, Limerick, Offaly, Westmeath, Laois, Longford, Roscommon, Cavan, Monaghan, Kildare.

Figure 1: MQI locations in the Republic of Ireland

Harm reduction services

The aim of harm reduction is to minimise the risks stemming from sharing drug-use paraphernalia. In 2021, MQI facilitated 49,448 interventions in its needle exchange and harm reduction services; 4,777 of these clients were unique. When compared with 2020, MQI saw an increase of 27% in the numbers of clients engaging in the needle exchange service.

Substance use case workers

MQI substance use case workers support people addressing their substance use, including exploring treatment options for detox and rehabilitation. This support is carried out by phone and on a one-to-one basis. In 2021, some 145 clients were supported. Of these 145 clients, 34% were young people aged 18–24 years.

Community Detox and opioid substitution therapy

In 2021, some 80 unique clients accessed the Community Detox service in Riverbank, Dublin, with 65 clients accessing benzodiazepine detox and 15 clients alcohol detox; 185 clients accessed opioid substitution therapy (OST). In 2020, MQI had witnessed a steady increase in clients availing of OST compared with 2019. The number of people receiving OST in 2020 was 483 unique clients and access to this treatment was believed to be significantly increased due to the reduced waiting times as a result of the Covid–19 pandemic.

Merchants Quay Ireland annual review continued

Harm Reduction Outreach Team

MQI has a Harm Reduction Outreach Team that provides harm reduction interventions. Services provided include needle exchange, safer injecting information, and naloxone training. The team also supports clients by referring them to other services such as medical, housing, and mental health. In addition, the team aims to build relationships with clients who are service-resistant and to support them overcome the barriers they face in order to engage with mainstream services. In 2021, this team supported 1,092 unique individuals through 6,642 interventions.

Hepatitis C treatment

The hepatitis C worker is the member of the MQI team who liaises with the primary healthcare team to ensure clients who use drugs intravenously are screened for blood-borne viruses. This worker advocates for testing; if a client is positive, a general practitioner refers the client to a specialist nurse. The hepatitis C worker continues to regularly check in with clients in these situations, ensuring that they are attending appointments and receiving care where required. In 2021, some 59 unique clients engaged with the worker, with 383 visits in total.

East Coast services

A community-based drug and alcohol treatment support service is provided for the East Coast region and South Dublin. In 2021, some 209 unique individuals accessed the service and 2,973 interventions were provided. In addition to the client interventions, the team provided 1,402 phone calls to support people enquiring about the service.

Midlands services

Drug and Alcohol Treatment Supports project

MQI's Drug and Alcohol Treatment Supports (DATS) team provides a community-based drug and alcohol treatment support service for individuals over 18 years of age and their families in the Midlands area (Counties Longford, Westmeath, Laois, and Offaly). Services provided include an outreach-based crisis support service, mobile harm reduction, needle and syringe exchange, rehabilitation and aftercare supports, and support for families affected by substance use. In 2021, some 702 unique individuals were supported through 11,538 interventions.

Recovery services

St Francis Farm and High Park

The St Francis Farm (SFF) Rehabilitation Service offers a 13-bed therapeutic facility with a 14week rehabilitation programme set on a working farm in Tullow, Co. Carlow. At SFF, MQI provides a safe environment where service users can explore the reasons for their drug use, adjust to life without drugs, learn effective coping mechanisms, make positive choices about their future, and gain hands-on experience in animal care and vegetable production. In 2021, there were 167 referrals, 90 assessments, 47 admissions, and 39 completions. The 10bed residential detoxification service at SFF delivers methadone and combined methadone/ benzodiazepine detoxes for both men and women. In 2021, there were 302 people referred to SFF detox. Of the 157 people who completed assessments, 42 were admitted, and 40 individuals completed the programme.

At High Park in Drumcondra, Dublin, MQI operates a 14-week residential programme in a 13-bed facility. The emphasis is on assisting clients to gain insight into the issues that underpin their problematic drug use and on

Merchants Quay Ireland annual review continued

developing practical measures to prevent relapse, remain drug-free, and sustain recovery. In 2021, the service received 304 referrals. Of this number, 250 people completed assessments, 52 were admitted, and 37 individuals completed treatment.

Prison-based services

Addiction Counselling Service and Mountjoy Drug Treatment Programme

MQI, in partnership with the Irish Prison Service, delivers a national prison-based Addiction Counselling Service (ACS) aimed at prisoners with drug and alcohol problems in 11 Irish prisons. This service provides structured assessments, one-to-one counselling, therapeutic group work, and multidisciplinary care, in addition to release-planning interventions with clearly defined treatment plans and goals. Services offered include:

- Brief interventions
- Motivational interviewing and motivational enhancement therapy
- A 12-step facilitation programme
- Relapse prevention and overdose reduction
- Cognitive behavioural therapy
- Harm reduction approaches
- Individual care planning and release planning.

In 2021, MQI counselling staff saw a total of 1,930 unique clients. In addition, MQI continued to operate a national phoneline where prisoners could access phone support, averaging 33 calls per day.

Seán Millar

1 Merchants Quay Ireland (2022) *Merchants Quay Ireland annual review 2021*. Dublin: Merchants Quay Ireland. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/37321/

Prison visiting committees annual reports, 2021

A visiting committee is appointed to each Irish prison under the Prisons (Visiting Committees) Act 1925 and the Prisons (Visiting Committees) Order 1925. Members of the 12 visiting committees are appointed by the Minister for Justice for a term not exceeding three years. The function of prison visiting committees is to visit, at frequent intervals, the prison to which they are appointed and hear any complaints that may be made to them by any prisoner. They report to the Minister for Justice regarding any abuses observed or found, and any repairs which they think are urgently needed. Prison visiting committee members have free access, either collectively or individually, to every part of the prison to which their committee is appointed. Information from prison visiting committee reports relating to drug use in prisons for 2021 (n=8) is summarised below.¹

Prison visiting committees annual reports continued

Mountjoy Prison, Dublin

In its report, the Mountjoy Visiting Committee noted that prisoners expressed a mood of frustration, hopelessness, and at times anger about conditions of their custody, including the prevalence of drug abuse, intimidation, and absence of adequate drug treatment services. The entry of substances into the prison, despite the efforts of staff, is an ongoing feature for the lives of detained prisoners. In addition, there were reports in 2021 of intimidation of family members in the community and a mirroring in the prison of coercion in the context of drug use and debts. The committee has consistently highlighted in past annual reports the availability of illicit drugs in the prison and recommended the continued high priority to reducing supply into the prison.

Dóchas Centre, Dublin

The Dóchas Visiting Committee observed that, as in 2020, there has been a noticeable decrease in the presence of drugs and problems associated with drugs in the prison in 2021, which is a positive development. This is likely in part because of the Covid-19 restrictions and the more structured regime within the prison.

Wheatfield Prison, Dublin

The Wheatfield Place of Detention Visiting Committee's report observed that drugs thrown over the perimeter wall are a daily scourge for the Prison Service and prisoners who are compelled to pick up these drugs in the yard. Although the Wheatfield yards are large spaces covered with netting, there is a continued struggle to prevent drugs and objects being thrown over the perimeter wall. The committee also felt that the continual drug-throws undermine the prison methadone programme. The report suggested that a more permanent solution with regard to the numerous Stateowned lands at the back of the prison could assist in drastically reducing drug-throws.

Cloverhill Prison, Dublin

In its report, the Cloverhill Visiting Committee noted that while the continued commitment of prison authorities to intercept the supply of drugs, particularly in the exercise yard, is commendable, the culture of drugs within the prison remains a reality. The committee recommended that additional support be provided to the Addiction Counselling Service for this purpose. Moreover, it again recommended the provision of a drug-free area.

Arbour Hill Prison, Dublin

The Arbour Hill Visiting Committee's report noted that Arbour Hill remains fully committed to ensuring that the prison remains drug-free. All prisoners are fully aware that they are expected to be 100% drug-free and access to the prison's facilities and services depend on this. Random drug testing is part of the day-to-day routine at the prison.

Loughan House, Co. Cavan

The Loughan House Visiting Committee heard that face-to-face addiction and counselling sessions were suspended due to Covid-19 restrictions in 2021. However, counselling staff made themselves available via a telephonebased service. This was coupled with the fact that prisoners in Loughan House are permitted their own mobile phone, meaning that Merchants Quay Ireland addiction team specialists remained fully accessible throughout the year.

Shelton Abbey Prison, Co. Wicklow

The Shelton Abbey Visiting Committee's report noted that a full-time addiction counsellor is onsite, since being appointed in 2017. All prisoners are seen on entry, regardless of charge, and

Prison visiting committees annual reports continued

are assessed for current or previous addiction issues. They are offered one-to-one addiction counselling if required or, in the absence of a psychology service, are offered general counselling for issues other than addiction.

Midlands Prison, Co. Laois

The Midlands Prison Visiting Committee was informed that a general practitioner (GP) addiction specialist holds weekly sessions as part of the drug treatment service within the prison. In addition, the Addiction Counselling Service in the prison is supported by Merchants Quay Ireland and includes one-to-one counselling and assessments.

Seán Millar

 Department of Justice (2023) Prison Visiting Committee annual reports 2021 [Arbour Hill Prison, Castlerea Prison, Cloverhill Prison, Cork Prison, Dóchas Centre, Limerick Prison, Loughan House, Midlands Prison, Mountjoy Prison, Portlaoise Prison, Shelton Abbey Prison, Wheatfield Prison]. Dublin: Department of Justice. Available from:

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39024/

Ana Liffey Drug Project annual report, 2022

The Ana Liffey Drug Project (ALDP) is a 'lowthreshold, harm reduction' project working with people who are actively using drugs and experiencing associated problems. ALDP has been offering harm reduction services to people in the north inner city area of Dublin since 1982, from premises at Middle Abbey Street. ALDP offers a wide variety of lowthreshold, harm reduction services that provide pathways for people who use drugs out of their current circumstance, including addiction and homelessness.

The services offered in Dublin include:

- Open access
- Assertive outreach
- Needle and syringe programme
- Medical services

- Stabilisation group
- Detox group
- Harm reduction group
- Treatment options group
- Assessment for residential treatment
- · Key working and case management
- Prison in-reach.

Midwest region

The ALDP Midwest region provides harm reduction services in Limerick city and three counties to people affected by problematic substance use, their families, and the wider community. The counties served are Limerick, Clare, and North Tipperary. The ALDP Online and Digital Services team also offers support and information to the general public and to people
Ana Liffey Drug Project annual report continued

who use drugs, as well as to other agencies that work with people with problematic drug use.

Annual report

The 2022 ALDP annual report was published in 2023.¹ The report noted that in 2022 the Law Engagement and Assisted Recovery (LEAR) programme, which had been running for 8 years, came of age with increased cooperation from An Garda Síochána, who committed more time and effort to it than ever before. The aim of LEAR is to support people who have complex and multiple needs, such as addiction, criminality, homelessness, and mental health, to engage effectively with support services and to identify and achieve their goals. A key focus of the project is supporting people to move away from

criminality and antisocial behaviour and towards their personal recovery. In April 2022, ALDP expanded LEAR into Dublin's northeast inner city with four additional staff and two more Garda Stations in Mountjoy and Fitzgibbon Street coming on board. The report noted that prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, ALDP was renowned for its open access drop-in service, whereas the emphasis is now on working with service users in community settings.

In 2022, ALDP also facilitated training on overdose prevention and naloxone use for hundreds of staff working in private emergency accommodation and for people who use drugs.

Seán Millar

1 Ana Liffey Drug Project (2023) Ana Liffey Drug Project 2022 annual report. Dublin: Ana Liffey Drug Project. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39563/

An Garda Síochána annual report, 2022

In October 2023, An Garda Síochána (AGS) published its annual report for 2022.¹ This article first reports on activities related to national policing, followed by national security and intelligence, community safety, and finally statistics for detections of incidents related to the sale and supply of drugs and Garda drug seizures for 2022.

National policing

Gardaí work in various units to fight crime across Ireland. What follows is a brief outline of a selection of the work undertaken by some of these units.

Garda National Drugs and Organised Crime Bureau

Table 1 provides a breakdown of seizures relating to operations carried out by the Garda National Drugs and Organised Crime Bureau (GNDOCB) in 2022.

Table 1: Summary of seizures by GNDOCB, March 2015–December 2022

Category	2022	Total since March 2015		
Illicit drugs	EUR 57 million	EUR 325 million		
Firearms	9	146		
Rounds of ammunition	101	5672		
Cash	EUR 3,778,380 GBP 48,875	EUR 28,078,621 GBP 313,201 USD 3,721		
Cash forfeited to the State*	EUR 2,075,500 GBP 220,230	EUR 13,262,454.48 GBP 220,230		
Interventions: threat-to-life incidents	3	80**		
Arrests for drug trafficking, money laundering, possession of firearms, and kindred offences	173	1353		

Source: AGS (2023, p. 14)1

* This is the amount of cash forfeited to the State after relevant Court proceedings.

** 80 threat-to-life operations since 5 February 2016.

Note: These statistics relate to operations involving the GNDOCB and do not include seizures made by local Garda units.

Operation Thor

Operation Thor, AGS's national anti-burglary operation, commenced in November 2015. Since then, there have been 18,189 arrests and 534,076 checkpoints. Burglary incidents in residential and non-residential settings have decreased by 48% and 44%, respectively.

Garda National Protective Services Bureau

The Garda National Protective Services Bureau (GNPSB) targets suspects involved in sexual crime, online child exploitation, child protection, domestic abuse, and human trafficking:

- The dedicated Child Sexual Abuse Reporting phoneline provided by AGS received 221 calls in 2022.¹
- In 2022, some 42 victims (15 females and 27 males) of human trafficking were identified by AGS.

- In 2022, the Missing Persons Unit (MPU) recorded 10,510 missing person incidents, with 4,268 persons reported missing one or more times. At the end of 2022, there were 58 missing persons. The MPU also supported the United Kingdom's (UK's) National Crime Agency and police on a historical missing person case since 1982.
- Coercive control legislation has resulted in an increase in recorded coercive incidents in 2022. The Domestic Abuse Intervention and Policy Unit (DAIPU) continued to collaborate with GNPSB on campaigns to increase public awareness and support victims during Garda investigations. A presentation developed by DAIPU is now part of training implemented by the Divisional Protective Services Unit.
- In September 2022, AGS published a report on domestic, sexual, and gender-based violence, outlining current trends and Garda operational responses. This report

has further increased public awareness, engagement, and enhanced victim support as well as commitment to the investigation and prosecution of offenders.

Garda National Economic Crime Bureau

The Garda National Economic Crime Bureau (GNECB) was involved in several operations in 2022:

- Operation Omena investigated the use of Irish bank accounts to launder money by an organised crime gang (OCG). While 12 foreign nationals were placed under arrest and prosecuted, the investigations are ongoing, and it is hoped that more suspects will be extradited to Ireland to face charges.
- Operation Skein investigated an OCG suspected of worldwide fraud using business emails, with proceeds being laundered from Irish bank accounts to other jurisdictions. An extensive OCG network has been identified involving 800 suspects who are mainly money mules. Investigations have shown that over EUR 40 million has been stolen and laundered through bank accounts in Ireland. So far more than 200 suspects have been arrested.¹
- Operation Elaborate is an ongoing investigation led by Europol into smishing/ phishing frauds. Using the iSpoof server, criminals contacted victims to pretend that they were banks or service providers. The server was removed by police in the UK and the Netherlands. Searches carried out in Ireland in November 2022 resulted in the identification of 17 suspects, the seizure of 100 devices, and EUR 100,000 in cryptocurrency frozen. Gardaí continued to examine the devices and another 300 suspects are thought to be identifiable.

Garda National Cyber Crime Bureau

The Garda National Cyber Crime Bureau (GNCCB) assisted in several enquiries. In 2022, some 488 new cases were opened and 692 were closed. Case types included:

- Cyber forensics (n=468): Nine children who had been sexually abused and exploited were identified. The GNCCB collaborated with GNPSB to implement child protection interventions.
- Cyber investigations (n=19): GNCCB participated in Operation Elaborate to shut down the iSpoof computer server. As part of Operation Vaccination, it helped shut down the FluBot android malware server. The examination of multiple ransomware attacks on educational and corporate systems is ongoing.
- Cyber intelligence (n=1): Intelligence on existing threats, risks, and suspects collated from stakeholder partners were shared via internal bulletins and publicly via cyber safety releases.

Criminal Assets Bureau

In 2022, the Criminal Assets Bureau (CAB) continued to target 'high-ranking' criminals along with mid and lower-level tiers involved in OCGs, with the aim of depriving them of the proceeds of crime. It continued to engage with international agencies and participated in asset forfeiture and confiscation conferences. In 2022, training continued and resulted in an increase in the network of Divisional Assets Profilers.¹

Operational support services

AGS has several operational support units to reinforce its work: the Garda Air Support Unit (GASU), Garda Dog Unit (GDU), Garda Mounted Unit (GMU), and Garda Water Unit (GWU).

 GASU: In 2022, GASU carried out 1,177 flights, resulting in 1,068 hours flown. Overall, 1,624 incidents were attended, 128 suspects detained, 17 missing persons

located, and 40 vehicles located.

- **GDU:** The unit has 29 dogs and carried out 368 searches in 2022 to find drugs, firearms, and cash. To ensure security at major events, 151 searches were carried out by GDU detection dogs.
- GMU: In 2022, this unit carried out missing person searches; assisted in the VIP visit of the then Prince Charles to Ireland; provided high visibility mounted patrols at the Galway Races, Rose of Tralee, and Electric Picnic; assisted policing operations; and worked with and assisted charities.
- GWU: In 2022, this unit carried out a range of searches and activities, such as personrelated searches, recovering nine human remains; firearm searches, also providing underwater video and still photography to investigators; security searches, also providing berth clearing and ship's hull searches on visiting ships that posed a security threat.

National security and intelligence

Security and intelligence

The Garda National Crime and Security and Intelligence Service collates, analyses, and disseminates intelligence related to national security. Table 2 highlights some of the work carried out by this service in 2022.

Unit	Activities during 2022							
Special Detective Unit	 Safeguarded the security of the State as part of its core function in the National Counter-Terrorism Investigation Unit 							
	 Worked closely with the Police Service of Northern Ireland (PSNI) and UK law enforcement agencies to alleviate threats from paramilitary groups 							
	Conducted cross-border checkpoints with local Gardaí and PSNI							
	Screened 370 refugees as part of Irish Refugee Programme							
Special Tactics and Operations Command (STOC):								
Emergency Response Unit	 Completed 83 preplanned deployments on firearms operations supporting national units 							
	 Provided 78 high-risk protection escorts to VIPs 							
Armed Support Unit	 Hosted the European Union (EU) High Risk Security Network workshop on tactical rescue response 							
	 Total national deployment statistics for 2022 included:* 							
	- Dispatched to armed calls (n=5924)							
	- Hostage, barricade and suicide incidents (n=83)							
	- Preplanned deployments (n=1068)							

Table 2: Actions taken by the Security and Intelligence section to keep Ireland safe

Unit	Activities during 2022
National Negotiation Unit	 Took over the presidency and chair of the European Network of Advisory Teams (EuNAT) in September
	 Hosted an EuNAT conference in Dublin in November, addressing key topics: cybercrime, international kidnappings, extortion, and piracy
	 Delivered training and presentations to AGS and external agencies in relation to negotiation, operational commanders, and hostage, barricade, and suicide incidents
	Carried out 112 negotiator activations
	 Conducted crisis intervention, mental health barricade and domestic/criminal barricade negotiations
	 Worked closely with the Department of Foreign Affairs providing security advice, guidance to diplomats, and assisting five cases of Irish citizens in difficulty abroad
STOC Training Unit	 Delivered modular training to all STOC personnel in: Firearms Less lethal weapons Close quarter tactics Tactical vehicle containment Distraction devices Critical firearms incident Active shooter

Source: AGS (2023, pp. 28-30).1

* Total national figures are based on a computation of regional data provided in AGS report (AGS 2022, p. 27).

Liaison and protection

In terms of liaison and protection,, AGS continued to work closely with agencies outside Ireland. Its activities included:

- Interpol: Interpol Dublin contributed to Interpol databases to help in the prevention, disruption, and detection of transnational crime. Members of AGS participated in several Interpol-led projects that targeted cybercrime, financial crime, organised crime, environmental crime, and crimes related to the Covid-19 pandemic.
- **Europol:** AGS in collaboration with Europol conducted several cross-border operations

involving serious and organised crime. Garda personnel attached to specialist units completed online training, attended virtual conferences, and were involved in joint action days as part of Europol's drive to upskill law enforcement to essential standards.

 Schengen Information System (SIS II) and Supplementary Information Request at the National Entries (SIRENE) Bureau: In March 2021, AGS was connected to SISII. The SIRENE Bureau was established by AGS to implement SISII. In relation to Ireland, overall in 2022, there were 1,424 hits on other member states and 809 hits on Irish alerts.

- International Coordination Unit (ICU): The ICU participated in the European Commission Internal Security Fund (ISF) (police) National Programme 2021–2027. The ISF was established by the European Commission to maintain high security levels in the EU.
- National Major Emergency Management (MEM) office: In 2022, MEM continued to be part of the Cross Border Emergency Management Exercise Group, which created Exercise Enya. The aim of this exercise was to:
 - Assess the cross-border activation protocol for anticipated or confirmed major emergency incidents between the borders of Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland
 - Establish coordination structures, and
 - Manage multiagency communications on a cross-border basis.

This unit also represented AGS on the:

- Government Task Force on Emergency Planning
- National MEM Steering and Working Groups, and
- Cross Border Emergency Management Group.

Community safety

Community engagement is at the heart of the work of AGS. Several activities were carried out in 2022, such as crime prevention campaigns via traditional, social, and online media (e.g. burglary prevention, online safety, public safety and harm reduction, rural safety, and bogus callers/fraud). For example:

- Halloween Safety Schools Campaign was delivered in primary schools to keep children safe at Halloween.
- Operation Twin Tracks targeted antisocial behaviour on the DART, Luas, and intercity rail routes.
- The Garda National Community Policing Unit (GNCPU) in collaboration with *Crimecall* implemented an online safety campaign to support Safer Internet Day in February.
- The Rural Safety Plan 2022–2024 was launched in September, written by the GNCPU and the Garda National Crime Prevention Unit. The main priorities identified were community safety, burglary and theft, roads policing, animal crime, and heritage crime.



Source: Operational PULSE data ICCS types: 1011, 1012, 1021 (AGS 2023, p. 71)¹

Figure 1: Detected sale and supply of drugs, 2017-2022

Statistics

Incidents of sale and supply of drugs marked as detected

Figure 1 shows the number of sale and supply incidents detected between 2017 and 2022. Between 2019 and 2021, there were on average 369 incidents per month. The average for 2022 was 355 per month. Between 2021 and 2022, the average per month decreased by 10.1%. The PULSE system used to record detections was upgraded to PULSE 7.3 in February 2018. Hence, detections before and after the upgrade cannot be compared.

Garda-only drug seizures 2022

Drug seizures are submitted to Forensic Science Ireland (FSI) for analysis. Overall, it was estimated that the value of drugs seized by Gardaí in 2022 was EUR 63,226,886. As illustrated in Table 3, the most prominent drugs seized in Ireland with values greater than EUR 1 million were cannabis herb, cocaine, diamorphine, cannabis plants, phenethylamine, and hallucinogens. While cannabis plants were ranked fourth, it is likely that this figure is much higher, as not all plants are sent to FSI for analysis.

Table 3: Garda drug seizures, 2022

Category	Grams/mls/plant	Tbls/sqr/caps	Value (EUR)
Cannabis herb	1,334,057	1	26,681,141
Cocaine	268,696	1	18,808,694
Diamorphine	61,260	1	8,576,424
Cannabis plants*	5598		4,478,400
Phenethylamine**	31,178	59,000	1,528,645
Hallucinogen	8402	8,035	1,046,760
Cannabis resin	141,369	1	848,215
Benzodiazepine	1089	655,312	821,348
Synthetic cannabinoid	5013	2,204	113,476
Cathinone	2184	202	110,214
Mixing agents	211,332	1,137	105,666
Sleeping agent	67	48,169	96,338
Solvent	8430		8,430
Anabolic steroids	42	3,039	1,823
Opioids other	4426	499	875
New psychoactive substances	8	5	397
Piperazine		8	40
Total			63,226,886***

Source: Adapted from AGS annual report 2022 (AGS, 2023, p. 83).¹

* Cannabis plants are calculated based on figures recorded on PULSE, as not all plants seized are routinely sent to FSI. ** Phenethylamines include ecstasy (MDMA) and other similar related drugs.

*** This total figure is based on Garda-only seizures as recorded by FSI and PULSE. The GNDOCB figure may differ for a number of reasons, such as the inclusion of seizures outside the remit of FSI and PULSE; GNDOCB report based on seizure data; FSI based on analysis date; weights/quantities may differ once confirmed by FSI. All figures are provisional, operational, and subject to change as of 1 March 2023.

Conclusion

The year 2022 marked 100 years since AGS was established in Ireland. Garda Commissioner Drew Harris recognised that 'it was a year of reflection and thanks for the organisation' (p. 4).¹ He reflected on the contributions made by AGS and the bond developed with communities where AGS is viewed as 'one of the most trusted police services in the world' (p. 4). Due to their commitment and professionalism, AGS personnel have worked effectively and efficiently to prevent and detect crime, maintain peace, and provide national security. However, as an organisation, more work is needed to support personnel. AGS continues to progress its implementation of the Government's reform programme, A Policing Service for the Future,² so that AGS can continue to work closely with communities and keep them safe as they have done since 1922.¹

Ciara H Guiney

- An Garda Síochána (AGS) (2023) Annual report An Garda Síochána 2022. Dublin: An Garda Síochána. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39853/
- 2 Government of Ireland (2019) A policing service for the future: implementing the Report of the Commission on the Future of Policing in Ireland. Dublin: Government of Ireland. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/33265/
- 3 An Garda Síochána (2022) Domestic, sexual and gender-based violence: a report on crime levels and Garda operational responses. Dublin: An Garda Síochána. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/37126/

EWODOR Conference, 2023

The European Working Group on Drugs Orientated Research (EWODOR) Conference took place on 23–24 October 2023 in Trinity College Dublin, in partnership with Coolmine Therapeutic Community. EWODOR was established in 1983 as a forum for researchers in the drug and alcohol field to share their work and learnings, with a particular focus on drugfree therapeutic communities. It is the oldest European network of researchers working in the sector. Its work has expanded with practitioners becoming members of the group; while maintaining a focus on recovery pathways, EWODOR also explores drug treatment more broadly.

Recovery capital

The conference in October had as its theme the role of support, connectedness, and communities in promoting addiction recovery. Cutting across most of the presentations was the concept of 'recovery capital'. Recovery capital is concerned with the internal and external resources that a person can access to support their recovery process. It is an assetbased concept that focuses on strengths that tend to fall under three categories: personal, social, and community. In their introduction to the conference programme, the event's coordinators¹ explained that 'recovery capital entails the personal, social and community resources and assets that help individuals to initiate and maintain addiction recovery'. Rather than just being focused on the individual, they argued for the importance of 'recovery ready communities' which promote relational recovery and lived experience expertise. These in turn stimulate innovation in the development of new services, approaches, and policies that support sustainable recovery journeys and communities.

Conference presentations

The programme comprised 40 presentations from national and international speakers with a wide range of experience in the field. They ranged from a focus on theoretical understandings of recovery and the barriers and facilitators that impact on it to illustrations of comprehensive services and programmes that support people in building their recovery capital. Below are some short examples of the presentations.

• Jim Walsh of the Department of Health noted that recovery is one of the pillars

EWODOR Conference continued

of the current national drugs strategy in Ireland. However, he acknowledged that the strategy needs to 'up its game' in delivering on recovery, but argued that it is currently a focus of Irish policy, which provides 'fertile ground' in Ireland for building recovery communities.

- Professor David Best of Leeds Trinity University argued that treatment and recovery are too often conflated in policy and practice and that they are fundamentally different in terms of their principle, policy, and practice. Treatment involves a professional or 'expert' and patient relationship, whereas recovery involves the provider 'walking alongside' the person working towards recovery - a role often best fulfilled by peers. He argued that recovery is a fundamental process of change that focuses on strengths and which can best happen within families and communities. Based on his work, compared to people who are struggling with recovery, those who do well tend to spend more time with other people in recovery and engage in meaningful activities on a daily basis. Recovery capital (personal, social, and collective) underpins it all.
- Professor Edward Day of the University of Birmingham made a presentation entitled Toward Better Treatment and Recovery Systems: The Case of Lived Experience Recovery Organisations (LEROs). LEROs are defined as follows:

A LERO is an independent organisation led by people with lived experience of drug and alcohol recovery. LEROs deliver a range of harm reduction interventions, peer support and recovery support, and help people to access and engage in treatment and other support services.² He spoke about addiction being the opposite of connectedness and that LEROs support building connectedness and therefore build recovery capital. This was illustrated by, for example, recovery housing schemes and recovery community centres. LEROs can be particularly effective when linked with treatment services, building a system containing all the elements needed to support recovery.

 There were presentations that specifically looked at the experiences of women who use drugs and their needs. A presentation by Dr Polly Radcliffe of King's College London highlighted how women continue to be seen under the lens of 'mother' and that services are often focused on child welfare rather than the needs of the mother. Fear of child removal is central to the experience of pregnant women who use drugs.

Lucy Dillon

- 1 The coordinators were Professor Jo-Hanna Ivers, Trinity College Dublin; Professor Wouter Vanderplasschen, Ghent University and EWODOR chair; and Pauline McKeown, chief executive officer of Coolmine.
- 2 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (2023) *Recovery support services and lived experience initiatives. Part 4: glossary and resources.* London: Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39814/

Courts Service annual report, 2022

The *Courts Service annual report 2022* was published on 27 September 2023.¹ While the report presented data for all criminal cases arising within the Irish justice system between January and December 2022, this article only reports on statistics of prosecutions for drug offences.¹ The data provided are for overall drug law offences. The Courts Service in Ireland does not distinguish between the different supply offences and possession/use offences (Courts Service, personal communication, 2017).

District Court

In most cases, prosecutions for drug offences are carried out in the District Court, which is the lowest court in the Irish legal system. The District Court, exercising its criminal jurisdiction, deals with four types of offences: summary offences, indictable offences tried summarily, some indictable offences, and indictable offences not tried summarily. When the District Court hears a criminal case, the judge sits without a jury. The District Court judge decides the issues of fact and whether to convict. They also determine the sentence. In the case of most indictable offences that must be tried by a judge sitting with a jury, the District Court may impose a sentence where the accused pleads guilty, provided that the Director of Public

Prosecutions consents and the judge accepts the guilty plea. Otherwise, the accused is sent forward to the Circuit Court on their signed guilty plea for sentencing. The District Court has a limit on the sentence it may impose in respect of a single criminal charge, which is 12 months' imprisonment.² Overall, 21,393 orders were made in relation to drug offences in 2022 – involving 17,073 defendants – which represents a 14% decrease since 2021 (n=19909) (see Tables 1 and 2).¹

Juvenile crime

The age of criminal responsibility in Ireland is 12 years in line with Section 52 of the Children Act 2001, as amended by Section 129 of the Criminal Justice Act 2006.³ Generally, children who come before the courts are aged between 15 and 17 years. The total number of orders that were made in respect of drug offences in the Children Court in 2022 was 462 (see Table 3), which represented a 5% decrease, approximately, since 2021 (n=488).¹ In 2022, young offenders received a range of punishments: imprisoned or detained (n=8), community service (n=5) or sentenced to probation (n=114). The number of young people placed on probation in 2022 (n=114) was nearly 7% lower than the 2021 figure (n=122).1

Table 1: Number of sentences for drug offences in the District Court, 2022

Inco	ming	Resolved: offences					
Offences	Defendants*	Summary	Indictable dealt with summarily	Sent forward for trial			
30,045	17,073	1030	20,363	3157			

Source: Courts Service (2023)¹

* There may be more than one offence brought against a defendant.

Courts Service annual report continued

Table 2: Number of summary and indictable offences: outcomes in the District Court, 2022

	Dis.	s/o	TIC	Fine	Bond	Disq.	C/S	Prob.	Imp/ Det.	Susp.	Other	Total
Summary offences: outcomes	57	278	186	135	7	2	10	77	71	69	138	1030
Indictable offences dealt with summarily: outcomes	507	5571	2639	3459	80	7	223	1885	686	883	4423	20,363

Source: Courts Service (2023)¹

Dis. = dismiss; S/O = strike out; TIC = taken into consideration; Disq. = disqualified; C/S = community service; Prob. = probation; Imp/Det. = imprisonment or detention; Susp. = suspended sentence.

Table 3: Number of juvenile crime outcomes, 2022

Dis.	s/o	тіс	Fine	Bond	Disq.	C/S	Prob.	lmp/ Det.	Susp.	Other	Total
43	142	83	28	1	-	5	114	8	1	37	462

Source: Courts Service (2023)¹

Dis. = dismiss; S/O = strike out; TIC = taken into consideration; Disq. = disqualified; C/S = community service; Prob. = probation; Imp/Det. = imprisonment or detention; Susp. = suspended sentence.

Table 4: Number of sentences for drug offences in the Circuit Court, 2022

Inc	oming			Resolved: offen	ces			
Offences	Defendants*	Guilty	Trials convicted	Trials acquitted	NP	TIC	Quash	Dec.
3151	813	2551	25	18	1039	596	0	18

Source: Courts Service (2023)¹

* There may be more than one offence brought against a defendant.

Guilty = guilty pleas; NP = *nolle prosequi*; TIC = taken into consideration; Quash = quash return for trial; Dec. = accused deceased.

Circuit Court

The Circuit Court heard cases for 813 defendants that involved 3,151 drug offences in 2022. There were 2,551 guilty pleas, which represented nearly a 17% increase from 2021 (n=2181). Of the cases that went to trial, 25 resulted in convictions and 18 resulted in acquittals (see Table 4). Trials resulted in 362 imprisonments/detentions and 446 suspended sentences (see Table 5).¹

Appeals from the District Court

In 2022, some 489 appeals from the District Court, representing 977 offences, were dealt with in the Circuit Court.¹ Appeals and offences in 2022 were approximately 15% and 9%, respectively, lower than that reported in 2021 (appeals n=574; offences n=1075). Table 6 shows a breakdown of resolved offences.

Courts Service annual report continued

Table 5: Number of offence outcomes following conviction in the Circuit Court, 2022

	TIC	Fine	Bond	Disq.	C/S	Prob.	Imp/Det.	Susp.	Other	Total
Offence outcomes following conviction	177	14	632	3	20	106	362	446	860	2620

Source: Courts Service (2023)¹

TIC = taken into consideration; Disq. = disqualified; C/S = community service; Prob. = probation; Imp/Det. = imprisonment or detention; Susp. = suspended sentence.

Table 6: Number of appeals from the District Court, 2022

Inco	oming		R	esolved: offend	ces	
Off.	Def.	Aff.	Varied	Rev.	s/o	S/O N/A
977	489	158	388	66	214	209

Source: Courts Service (2023)¹

Off. = offences; Def. = defendants; Aff. = affirmed; Rev. = reversed; S/O = struck out; S/O N/A = struck out no appearance.

Table 7: Summary of number of resolved appeals, 2022

A	ppeal	Conviction	Sentence (severity)	Conviction and sentence	Sentence (leniency)	DPP (dismissal)	Miscarriage of justice	Other	Total
Re	esolved	5	89	5	23	0	0	0	122

Source: Courts Service (2023)¹

DPP = Director of Public Prosecutions.

Court of Appeal

Overall, the number of appeals that were lodged from the Circuit Criminal Court for drug/misuse of drugs offences was more than 27% higher in 2022 (n=144) when compared with 2021 (n=113). Overall, 122 appeals that originated in the Circuit Criminal Court were resolved in 2022.¹ Table 7 indicates that most appeals resolved were for sentence severity (n=89), followed by sentence leniency (n=23), conviction and sentence (n=5), and conviction (n=5).

Conclusion

The report was commended by the Chief Justice and chairperson of the Courts Service Board, Mr Justice Donal O'Donnell. He described efforts by the Courts Service in 2022 as one of 'innovation, diligence and continued efforts' as they worked towards making the modernisation of the Courts a reality (p. 5).¹

Ciara H Guiney

- 1 Courts Service (2023) Courts Service annual report 2022. Dublin: Courts Service. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39636/
- 2 Courts Service (2013) *Courts Service annual report 2012.* Dublin: Courts Service. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/20180/
- Office of the Attorney General (2006) Criminal Justice Act 2006. Dublin: Irish Statute Book. Available from: https://www.irishstatutebook.ie/eli/2006/

act/26/section/129/enacted/en/html

Coolmine Therapeutic Community annual report, 2021

Coolmine Therapeutic Community is a drug and alcohol treatment centre providing community, day, and residential services to men and women with problematic substance use and to their families in Ireland. Established in 1973, Coolmine was founded on the philosophies of the therapeutic community approach to addiction treatment. This is primarily a self-help approach in which residents are responsible for their own recovery, with peers and staff acting as facilitators of change. Participants are expected to contribute to the general running of the community and to their own recovery by actively participating in educational activities and in group and individual therapy. This article highlights services provided by Coolmine in 2021.¹

Coolmine House

Located in Dublin City centre, services provided at Coolmine House include one-toone counselling, assessment, and information to support and assist clients to make the right choice to get help. The Drug-Free Day Programme (DFDP) provides a supportive setting for clients to build self-confidence and the skills to maintain a drug-free life. The programme lasts a minimum of 10 months: 5 months of primary treatment and 5 months of aftercare. Clients engage in open therapy groups, selfdevelopment workshops, one-to-one key working sessions, relapse prevention groups, and various other therapeutic/educational programmes. In 2021, some 802 individuals were supported in Coolmine House, with a 59% retention rate in the DFDP.



Source: Coolmine (2022, p. 14)

Community and day services (green marker): Coolmine House, Dublin 2; D15 Community Addiction Team, Dublin 15; Coolmine Midwest, Mahon House, Limerick City; Coolmine Cork City North Hub, The Glen; Coolmine Cork City South Hub, Mary Street; Coolmine East Cork Hub, Midleton; Coolmine West Cork Hub, Ahiohill; Coolmine North Cork Hub, Spa Glen, Mallow; Coolmine Kerry Hub, Dóchas House, Tralee. Women and children's residential services (pink marker): Ashleigh House, Dublin 15; Westbourne House, Limerick. Men's residential services (blue marker): Coolmine Lodge, Dublin 15. Administrative office (brown marker): 7 Ringwood Centre, Damastown, Dublin 15.

Figure 1: Coolmine services and locations, 2021

Coolmine Therapeutic Community annual report

continued

Community Addiction Team Dublin 15

The Community Addiction Team Dublin 15 (D15 CAT) service provides focused care pathways specifically to the local community in Dublin 15 impacted by problem substance use. It includes treatment and rehabilitation support for adult men and women with problem substance use; contact and interventions to young people and adolescents at risk of experiencing problematic substance use; tailored support to members of ethnic and new communities impacted by problematic substance use; and integrated family work to deliver whole-family outcomes. Services include:

- Information and support
- Specific support for young people
- Cannabis programme
- Family support
- Alcohol programme
- Support for new community members
- Mindfulness-based stress reduction
 programme
- Support for all problematic substance use.

In 2021, some 344 individuals were supported by the D15 CAT team.

Coolmine residential services

Coolmine Lodge – men's residential

Coolmine Lodge in Dublin 15 is a therapeutic community that hosts a five-month residential treatment programme for men who are working towards an independent life, free from addiction. It provides a supportive, peer-led environment where clients can build confidence, strength, resilience, and hope for a positive future. The service can admit men who may be prescribed medication, or those detoxifying from methadone, following assessment. In 2021, some 90 men were supported in residential treatment at Coolmine Lodge, with a 76% retention rate. Twenty-seven per cent of admissions to Coolmine Lodge in 2021 were referrals from the Probation Service or Irish Prison Service.

Ashleigh House – women and children's residential

Ashleigh House in Dublin 15 is a residential therapeutic community for women, expectant mothers, and mothers with young children. The service can admit women who may be prescribed medication, or those detoxifying from methadone, following assessment. Ashleigh House is designed to help women in recovery develop the skills they need to live a drug-free, independent life. In 2021, some 63 women were supported in residential treatment at Ashleigh House.

New services

In 2021, Coolmine established communitybased facilities in the Midwest and Southwest of Ireland. All Coolmine community and day services provide assertive outreach strategies, pre-entry supports, stabilisation, and day programmes. At year-end, there were 13 facilities operating nationally (see Figure 1), with 241 new referrals to Coolmine Midwest, while 345 individuals were worked with in Coolmine Southwest.

Seán Millar

1 Coolmine (2022) *Coolmine annual report 2021*. Dublin: Coolmine. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/37483/

DOVE Service, Rotunda Hospital annual report, 2022

The Danger of Viral Exposure (DOVE) Service in the Rotunda Hospital, Dublin was established to meet the specific needs of pregnant women who have or are at risk of blood-borne or sexually transmitted bacterial or viral infections in pregnancy. Exposure may also occur through illicit substance use. Figures from the service for 2022 were published in the hospital's annual report in 2023.¹

Clinical activity

Figure 1 shows the number of women who booked into the DOVE Service for antenatal care each year during the period 2012–2022. It also shows the diagnosis of viral disease for these women. During 2022, some 157 women booked into the DOVE Service for antenatal care. Of those attending the service, 99 were serologypositive. Of these:

- 14 women were positive for HIV infection.
- 41 women were positive for hepatitis B (HBV) surface antigen.
- 20 women were positive for hepatitis C (HCV) antibody.
- 24 women had positive treponemal serology (syphilis).



Source: The Rotunda Hospital (2023)

Figure 1: DOVE Service bookings by year, 2012–2022

DOVE Service, Rotunda Hospital annual report continued

Table 1: Deliveries to mothers attending the DOVE Service who were positive for HIV, HBV, HCV or syphilis, or who were attending the DLM service, 2022

Mother's status	HIV- positive	HBV- positive	HCV- positive	Syphilis- positive	DLM
Total mothers delivered <500 g (including miscarriage)	0	0	1	0	0
Total mothers delivered ≥500 g	17	37	30	18	62
Live infants	17	38*	29	17	62
Miscarriage	0	0	1	0	0
Stillbirths	0	0	1	1	1
Infants <37 weeks' gestation	3	6	7	5	21
Infants <u>></u> 37 weeks' gestation	14	32	23	13	42
Caesarean section	5	12	14	6	21
HIV, HBV, HCV or syphilis-positive infants	0	0*	0**	1	-
Maternal median age	33	32	34	31	-

Source: The Rotunda Hospital (2023)

* One set of twins.

** Final serology test not yet available for all infants.

DLM = drug liaison midwife.

In addition to the figures presented above, a number of women attended the service for diagnosis and treatment of human papillomavirus (HPV), herpes simplex virus, chlamydia, and gonorrhoea.

It should be noted that these numbers refer to patients who booked for care during 2022. Table 1 summarises the outcome of patients who actually delivered during 2022. Of these patients, 17 were HIV-positive, 37 were HBV-positive, 31 were HCV-positive, and 18 had syphilis. During 2022, some 117 women were referred to the drug liaison midwife (DLM) service, including 36 women who had a history of opioid addiction and were engaged in a methadone maintenance programme. There was a total of 62 deliveries to mothers under the DLM service in 2022, of which 32 were on prescribed methadone programmes.

Seán Millar

1 The Rotunda Hospital (2023) *The Rotunda Hospital Dublin annual report 2022*. Dublin: The Rotunda Hospital. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39464/

Tabor Group annual report, 2022

The Tabor Group is a provider of residential addiction treatment services in Ireland. It aims to offer hope, healing, and recovery to clients suffering from addictions through integrated and caring services. In addition to two residential facilities, the organisation provides a Continuing Care Programme to clients who have completed treatment to assist with their recovery as well as a community-based programme. Its Family Support Programme offers counselling to families whose loved ones are struggling with an addiction. In 2023, the Tabor Group published its annual report for 2022.¹ This article highlights services provided by the Tabor Group to individuals with a substance use addiction in 2022.

Tabor Lodge: residential addiction treatment centre

Tabor Lodge is a residential addiction treatment centre for people addicted to alcohol, drugs, gambling, and food. It is situated 15 miles south of Cork City. Tabor Lodge is guided by the Minnesota Model of addiction treatment in delivering its treatment programme. This model is characterised by the understanding that addiction is primarily a substance use disorder. The main focus of the treatment programme is to educate clients on the dynamics of this disorder as they manifest in the life of the individual. Another important focus of the treatment programme is to assist clients develop the skills necessary to manage their disorder while going forward in their lives.

A total of 148 clients were admitted to Tabor Lodge for residential treatment of addiction in 2022. The standard length of stay for clients in 2022 was 28 days, although this varied depending on the needs of the person. Some 141 clients completed the programme and were discharged into the Continuing Care Programme. All residential treatment programmes at Tabor Group were delivered by accredited addiction counsellors and psychotherapists; there are four counsellors working with the 14 clients resident in Tabor Lodge at any one time.

Tabor Fellowship: integratedrecovery programme

Tabor Fellowship is located at Spur Hill in Doughcloyne on the outskirts of Cork City. The integrated recovery programme is based on the Hazelden Minnesota Model and promotes total abstinence. The aim is to build on and consolidate the work of recovery already begun in primary treatment – even if that treatment was not in the recent past and the client is struggling to maintain sobriety.

In 2022, some 79 clients were admitted to Tabor Fellowship for extended treatment. The report observed that the standard length of stay for this programme was 12 weeks and that 44 of these clients transitioned to Recovery Living houses in Cork City for a further 12 weeks.

Seán Millar

1 Tabor Group (2023) *Tabor Group annual report* 2022. Cork: Tabor Group. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39057/

National Drugs Library

Updates

Recent publications

Responses

Advancing early detection of suicide? A national study examining socio-demographic factors, antecedent stressors and long-term history of self-harm

McMahon, E M Cully, G Corcoran, P Arensman E and Griffin Eve (2024) Journal of Affective Disorders, 350, pp. 372-378.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40351/

Prescription drugs with potential for misuse in Irish prisons: analysis of national prison prescribing trends, by gender and history of opioid use disorder, 2012 to 2020

Durand, L Keenan E and O'Reilly D *et al.* (2023) BMC Psychiatry, 23, 725.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39710/

Hospital-presenting self-harm among older adults living in Ireland: a 13-year trend analysis from the National Self-Harm Registry Ireland

Troya, M I Griffin E and Arensman E *et al.* (2023) International Psychogeriatrics, Early online.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39780/

Disordered alcohol and substance use in Irish farmers: a cross-sectional survey

O'Connor S Malone S M and Firnhaber J *et al.* (2023) The Journal of Rural Health, Early online.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39225/

Characteristics of affected family members seeking treatment in their own right: a secondary analysis of existing Irish health data for 2010–2020

Kelleher C, Carew AM and Lyons S (2023) Drugs: Education Prevention and Policy, Early online.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39177/

Changes in first-time registration for opioid agonist treatment in Ireland between 1999 and 2019

McCarron P, Santlal K and Smyth BP (2023) Journal of Substance Use, Early online.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39201/

Prevalence/current situation

Male patient attendances at Sexual Assault Treatment Units in Ireland: an analysis of 381 cases and a comparison with female patients

Kane, D Kennedy, K M and Flood K and Eogan M (2024) Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine, 102, 102643.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40305/

Examining the relationship between adversity and suicidality and self-harm in Irish adolescents from 2020 to 2022

Silke, C Heary, C Bunting, B Devaney, C Groarke, AM Major, E Durcan, M O'Brien C and Brady B (2024) Journal of Affective Disorders, 349, pp. 234-243.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40281/

The experience of drug-related client loss for healthcare professionals who support people in addiction

O'Callaghan D and Lambert S (2023) Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, 158, 209236.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40128/

Public health responses to homelessness during COVID-19 in Ireland: implications for health reform

Parker, S Siersbaek, R, Mac Conghail L and Burke S (2023) International Journal on Homelessness, 3, (3), pp. 36-52.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39969/

Alcohol-related emergency department presentations and hospital admissions around the time of minimum unit pricing in Ireland

Maharaj, T Fitzgerald, N Gilligan, E Quirke, M MacHale S and Ryan J D (2024) Alcohol-related emergency department presentations and hospital admissions around the time of minimum unit pricing in Ireland. Public Health, 227, pp. 38-41

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40186/

Evaluation of a national clinical programme for the management of self-harm in hospital emergency departments: impact on patient outcomes and the provision of care

Cully, G Corcoran, Paul Gunnell, D Chang, S S McElroy, B O'Connell, S Arensman, E Perry I J and Griffin E (2023) BMC Psychiatry, 23, 917.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40111/

A comparison of rate and methods of probable suicide for 2 years pre and post the onset of the **COVID-19** pandemic

Mannix, D Holleran, L Cevikel, P McMorrow, C Nerney, D Phelan, S McDonald C and Hallahan B (2024) Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine, Early online.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40341/

Priority healthcare needs amongst people experiencing homelessness in Dublin, Ireland: a qualitative evaluation of community expert experiences and opinions

Ingram, C MacNamara, I Buggy C and Perrotta C (2023) PLoS ONE, 18, (12), e0290599.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/40160/

The association between alcohol intake and obesity in a sample of the Irish adult population, a cross-sectional study.

AlKalbani, S R and Murrin C (2023) BMC Public Health, 23, (1), 2075.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39826/

Reducing opioid related deaths for individuals who are at high risk of death from overdose: a co-production study with people housed within prison and hostel accommodation during Covid-19

Campbell, A Millen S and Guo L et al (2023) Frontiers in Public Health, 11, 1080629.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39655/

Sustained virological response rates following hepatitis C treatment with direct-acting antivirals in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis

Nurdin, N Corey L and O'Toole S et al. (2023). Irish Medical Journal, 116, (7), p. 813.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/39401/

Trends in public attitudes to permitting cannabis for recreational use: analysis of Irish survey data since 2002

Mongan, D Millar, SR O'Dwyer, C et al. (2023) European Journal of Public Health. Early online

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/38555/

Drugnet Ireland is the quarterly newsletter of Ireland's focal point for the **EMCDDA** and is produced in collaboration with the HRB National Drugs Library. Drugnet Ireland is published by the Health Research Board.

Managing editor: Brian Galvin Copyediting:

© Health Research Board, 2024

O'Hanlon Media

Health Research Board

Grattan House 67-72 Lower Mount Street Dublin 2 D02 H638

T: 01 234 5168 E: drugnet@hrb.ie W: www.hrb.ie